

# UNIVERSIDAD NACIONAL AUTÓNOMA DE MÉXICO POSGRADO EN CIENCIAS BIOLÓGICAS

INSTITUTO DE ECOLOGÍA BIOLOGÍA EVOLUTIVA

# ADAPTACIÓN LOCAL EN LA INTERACCIÓN DATURA STRAMONIUM-HERBÍVORO

# TESIS

QUE PARA OPTAR POR EL GRADO DE:

# DOCTOR EN CIENCIAS

PRESENTA:

**GUILLERMO RAÚL CASTILLO SÁNCHEZ** 

TUTOR PRINCIPAL DE TESIS: DR. JUAN NUÑEZ FARFÁN INSITUTO DE ECOLOGIA COMITÉ TUTOR: DR. KEN OYAMA NAKAGAWA DR. MAURICIO QUESDADA AVENDAÑO CIECO, UNAM

MÉXICO, D.F. JUNIO, 2015.



Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México



UNAM – Dirección General de Bibliotecas Tesis Digitales Restricciones de uso

### DERECHOS RESERVADOS © PROHIBIDA SU REPRODUCCIÓN TOTAL O PARCIAL

Todo el material contenido en esta tesis esta protegido por la Ley Federal del Derecho de Autor (LFDA) de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos (México).

El uso de imágenes, fragmentos de videos, y demás material que sea objeto de protección de los derechos de autor, será exclusivamente para fines educativos e informativos y deberá citar la fuente donde la obtuvo mencionando el autor o autores. Cualquier uso distinto como el lucro, reproducción, edición o modificación, será perseguido y sancionado por el respectivo titular de los Derechos de Autor.

COORDINACIÓN

Dr. Isidro Ávila Martínez Director General de Administración Escolar, UNAM P r e s e n t e

Ciencias Biológicas

Me permito informar a usted, que el Subcomité de Biología Evolutiva y Sistemática, en su sesión ordinaria del día 16 de febrero de 2015, aprobó el jurado para la presentación de su examen para obtener el grado de DOCTOR EN CIENCIAS, del Posgrado en Ciencias Biológicas, del alumno CASTILLO SÁNCHEZ GUILLERMO RAÚL con número de cuenta 97201201 con la tesis titulada "Adaptación local en la interacción Datura stramonium-herbivoro", bajo la dirección del DR. JUAN SERVANDO NÚÑEZ FARFAN:

> Presidente: Vocal: Secretario: Suplente: Suplente

DR. PEDRO LUIS VALVERDE PADILLA DRA. EK DEL VAL DE GORTARI DR. ALBERTO KEN OYAMA NAKAGAWA DR. EDUARDO GUILLERMO DELGADO LAMAS DR. EFRAÍN TOVAR SÁNCHEZ

Sin otro particular, me es grato enviarle un cordial saludo.

A T E N T A M E N T E "POR MI RAZA HABLARA EL ESPIRITU" Cd. Universitaria, D.F. a 19 de mayo de 2015

100

DRA. MARÍA DEL CORO ARIZMENDI ARRIAGA COORDINADORA DEL PROGRAMA



c.c.p. Expediente del (la) interesado (a).

Unidad de Posgrado • Coordinación del Posgrado en Ciencias Biológicas Edificio B, 1er. Piso, Circuito de Posgrados Cd. Universitaria Delegación Coyoacán C.P. 04510 México, D.F. Tel. 5623 7002 http://pcbiol.posgrado.unam.mx

# **AGRADECIMIENTOS INSTITUCIONALES**

## AI POSGRADO EN CIENCIAS BIOLÓGICAS

Por haber apoyado mi formación académica

### AI CONSEJO NACIONAL DE CIENCIA Y TECNOLOGÍA

Por la beca otorgada para realizar mis estudios de doctorado y por apoyar este estudio a través del financiamiento 81490 "Evolución de la defensa en plantas contra sus enemigos naturales"

## A la UNAM por el apoyo brindado a través del Programa de Apoyo a los Estudios de Posgrado (PAEP)

A mi Comité tutor

## Dr. JUAN NUÑEZ FARFÁN

### Dr. KEN OYAMA NAKAGAWA

## Dr. MAURICIO QUESADA AVENDAÑO

Por su invaluable apoyo durante la realización de mi investigación

# **AGRADECIMIENTOS INSTITUCIONALES**

Al LABORATORIO DE ALELOPATIA DEL INSTITUTO DE ECOLOGIA de la UNAM, particularmente a la Dra. Ana Luisa Anaya, Blanca Hernández, Claudio Meléndez, Martha Macías y Teresita Caudillo

Al LABORATORIO DE BIOGEOQUÍMICA de la UNIDAD DE BIOTECNOLOGÍA Y PROTOTIPOS de la FES-IZTACALA, particularmente al Dr. César Mateo Flores Ortiz, Luis Barbo y Marta Urzúa

Al DR. CARLOS HERRERA y a la ESTACIÓN BIOLÓGICA DE DOÑANA (CSIC), por permitirme realizar una estancia de investigación con ellos

# AGRADECIMIENTOS PERSONALES

Al doctor **JUAN NUÑEZ FARFÁN** por apoyarme y enseñarme tanto durante mis estudios. Doctooooooor!!

A los doctores **JUAN FORNONI**, **DIEGO CARMONA y PEDRO LUIS VALVERDE**, por permitirme colaborar con ellos y aprender un montón en el proceso

A mi jurado de tesis, los doctores PEDRO LUIS VALVERDE, EK DEL VAL DE GORTARI, ALBERTO KEN OYAMA KAKAGAWA, EDUARDO GUILLERMO DELGADO LAMAS y EFRAÍN TOVAR SÁNCHEZ, por sus valiosos comentarios sobre este escrito

A LAURA LORENA CRUZ por haberme acompañado tantos años y tantas veces en el campo y en el laboratorio

### A mis compañeros del Laboratorio

Mariana, Pilar, Erika, Laura Lorena, Rafael Bello, Iván, Edson, Johnattan, Jorge, Adán, Eunice, Vania, Marisol y Rosalinda

A mis queridas ALEJANDARA O. MEDARANO, MARIANA BENÍTEZ y al Centro de Investigaciones Medianamente Serias por permitirme expresar mis inquietudes acerca del proceder académico

A NATALY MARCANO, por toda su ayuda

A todos mis amigos que con el paso del tiempo ¡lo siguen manteniendo real!

A mi MADRE

"Science is very vibrant. There are always new observations to be found. And it's all in the interest in challenging the authority that came before you. That's consistent with the punk rock ethos that suggests that you should not take what people say at face value."

Greg Graffin

# ÍNDICE

Resumen	1
Introducción general	5
Capítulo I.	9
Asociación geográfica y variación temporal de la defensa química y física y el daño foliar en <i>Datura stramonium</i>	
Capítulo II.	21
Mosaico selectivo ejercido por herbívoros especialistas y generalistas en la defensa química y física de <i>Datura stramonium</i>	
Capítulo III.	31
Adaptación local a herbívoros múltiples en Datura stramonium	
Capítulo IV.	55
Diferenciación adaptativa de atributos defensivos en Datura stramonium	
Discusión	81
Referencias	84

# Adaptación local en la interacción Datura stramonium-herbívoro

Guillermo Raúl Castillo Sánchez

### Resumen

Desentrañar los mecanismos que generan y mantienen la variación de atributos entre las poblaciones de una especie representa aún hoy un gran reto para la biología evolutiva. El objetivo de esta tesis fue el estudiar a nivel geográfico la variación de los atributos defensivos que median la interacción planta-herbívoro entre la planta anual Datura stramonium y sus herbívoros especialistas y generalistas. En este contexto, en mi tesis exploré la existencia de asociación geográfica del daño foliar por herbívoros con la defensa química y física en 28 poblaciones de D. stramonium y evalué si los herbívoros generalistas ejercen patrones selectivos contrastantes sobre atributos defensivos de D. stramonium. También evalué la existencia de adaptación local de D. stramonium a herbívoros generalistas y especialistas, así como a qué grado esta adaptación local es mediada por la defensa física de la planta. Finalmente exploré la evidencia de diferenciación adaptativa en atributos físicos y químicos en 13 poblaciones naturales de D. stramonium en el centro de México. Encontré una amplia variación geográfica en atributos defensivos (tricomas foliares, concentración de escopolamina y atropina), así como una asociación positiva significativa entre el daño foliar y la concentración de atropina. También encontré que a nivel geográfico los herbívoros especialistas seleccionan negativamente a la atropina y los generalistas favorecen a la escopolamina. Los resultados mostraron que las poblaciones de D. stramonium pueden estar adaptadas tanto a herbívoros generalistas y especialistas. Sin embargo, esta adaptación no está mediada por los tricomas foliares. Finalmente detecté evidencia de diferenciación adaptativa para la concentración de atropina y de escopolamina. Esta tesis resalta la necesidad de combinar experimentos de campo con evidencia obtenida de poblaciones naturales para responder preguntas contemporáneas acerca de la evolución de la defensa en plantas.

### Abstract

Unveiling the mechanisms that generate and maintain variation of traits between species populations remains as a major challenge for evolutionary biology. The objective of this thesis was to study the geographic variation of defensive traits mediating the plantherbivore interaction between Datura stramonium and its specialist and generalist herbivores. To do so, I explored the geographic association between leaf damage and chemical and physical defense of 28 natural populations of D. stramonium and evaluated whether specialist and generalist herbivores exert contrasting selective patterns on plant defense. I also assessed the local adaptation of D. stramonium to specialist and generalist herbivores. Finally I aimed to detect evidence of adaptive differentiation of defensive traits of D. stramonium in 13 natural populations in central Mexico. I found ample geographic variation in defensive traits (leaf trichome density, atropine and scopolamine concentration) and a positive geographic association between leaf damage and atropine. Results showed that, at a geographic level, specialist herbivores select negatively atropine concentrations, whereas generalist herbivores favor scopolamine concentration. I also found that D. stramonium populations can be locally adapted to specialist and generalist herbivores, but this adaptation is apparently not mediated by trichome density. Finally, I found evidence of adaptive differentiation of atropine and scopolamine concentration. This thesis highlights the need to combine field experiments with evidence obtained form natural populations to address further questions about the evolution of plant defense.

### Introducción general

La mayoría de las especies están compuestas de una serie de poblaciones que frecuentemente están diferenciadas fenotípica y genéticamente (Rice & Jain, 1985; Thompson, 2005). Esta diferenciación puede originarse por mecanismos, como la deriva génica, cuellos de botella o efectos fundadores (Gomulkiewicz *et al.*, 2007). Sin embargo, también puede originarse debido a la existencia de variación espacial en las presiones selectivas ejercidas por las condiciones bióticas y abióticas del ambiente (Lande & Arnold, 1983; Holsinger & Weir, 2009). La variación espacial en los patrones selectivos puede producir la diferenciación adaptativa entre poblaciones en atributos involucrados en una interacción (Thompson, 1994; Thompson, 2005; Züst *et al.*, 2012). Como consecuencia, se espera que a lo largo de grandes áreas geográficas, se promuevan diferentes trayectorias evolutivas en diferentes poblaciones (Mayr, 1947; Thompson, 2005). Debido a esto, conocer que tan común es la diferenciación adaptativa de atributos en la naturaleza es relevante para entender cómo se genera y se mantiene la variación dentro de las especies así como entre poblaciones (Muola, 2010).

La Teoría del Mosaico Geográfico de la Coevolución (TMGC) nos provee de un marco teórico para estudiar la evolución de las interacciones a una escala geográfica amplia (Thompson, 2005). De acuerdo a esta teoría, el resultado del proceso coevolutivo (cambio evolutivo recíproco entre especies interactuantes) está determinado por la variación geográfica en las interacciones entre especies. En particular, la TMGC postula que son tres los procesos que están moldeando el resultado coevolutivo a escala geográfica: *(1)* La existencia de un mosaico selectivo, *(2)* la presencia de "Hot-spots" y "Cold-spots" coevolutivos y *(3)* la remezcla de caracteres (mutaciones, flujo génico entre poblaciones, deriva génica o extinción de poblaciones). De acuerdo a la TMGC la intensidad y sentido de las presiones selectivas ejercidas entre atributos de especies interactuantes varía entre poblaciones (debido a interacciones genotipo × genotipo × ambiente sobre la adecuación de especies interactuantes). Por ello, a lo largo de una región geográfica existirán poblaciones en las que exista selección recíproca entre especies *(i.e.* "Hot-spots" coevolutivos), que estarán embebidas en una matriz de localidades en dónde sólo una

especie ejerce presiones selectivas o donde simplemente no existirán presiones selectivas (*i.e.* "Cold-spots" coevolutivos). Este proceso de diferenciación en las poblaciones estará también mediado por nuevas mutaciones, deriva génica y por el flujo génico entre poblaciones (remezcla de caracteres). Esto altera continuamente la distribución espacial de genes y atributos potencialmente relevantes para la evolución de la interacción. Como resultado, la TMGC predice tres patrones observables: *(i)* variación espacial en atributos que median una interacción, *(ii)* desajuste de atributos entre especies interactuantes en algunas localidades y *(iii)* pocos atributos favorecidos por coevolución a nivel de especie (Thompson, 2005; Gomulkiewicz et al., 2007).

La TMGC sugiere así la existencia de un patrón geográfico de adaptaciones y maladaptaciones locales (Gómez *et al.*, 2009). La hipótesis de adaptación local propone que los individuos originarios de una población mostrarán mayor adecuación en su hábitat original en comparación con individuos originarios de otro hábitat (Kawecki & Ebert, 2004). Sin embargo, las especies interactuantes pueden estar adaptadas recíprocamente en unas poblaciones y no en otras, e incluso estar maladaptadas localmente (individuos de una población presentar menor adecuación en su hábitat original en comparación con individuos originarios de otro hábitat original en comparación con individuos originarios de otro hábitat) (Thompson & Cunningham, 2002). Esto, como resultado de las dinámicas coevolutivas locales de las especies interactuantes (Laine, 2009). Por ello estudiar la ocurrencia de adaptación local es fundamental para entender la manera en la que se genera y se mantiene la variación geográfica de este tipo de interacciones (Kawecki & Ebert, 2004; Thompson, 2005; Laine, 2009).

La interacción planta-herbívoro ha sido ampliamente estudiada en el contexto de la coevolución y de la adaptación local (Ehrlich & Raven, 1964; Garrido *et al.*, 2012). En este tipo de interacción (y desde el punto de vista de las plantas) es posible detectar adaptación local cuando las plantas de una población presentan mayor adecuación cuando están expuestas a herbívoros simpátridos en comparación a cuando son expuestas a herbívoros (Kawecki & Ebert, 2004). Dado que, en principio, el daño foliar provocado por herbívoros reduce el éxito reproductivo de las plantas (Crawley,

1989), esperaríamos que esta adaptación local esté mediada en buena medida por atributos defensivos exhibidos por las plantas (Laukkanen *et al.*, 2012).

Las plantas poseen diferentes atributos defensivos que les permiten evitar el daño provocado por los herbívoros, por un lado están las defensas físicas (e. g. tricomas, espinas) y por el otro están las defensas químicas (e. g. terpenos, alcaloides) (Rausher, 2001; Schaller, 2008; Anderson & Mitchell-Olds, 2011). La expresión de estos atributos defensivos puede ser inducida (cuando es promovida por el daño provocado por herbívoros) o constitutiva (cuando está presente de manera previa al daño por herbívoros) (Agrawal & Karban, 2000). Se ha propuesto que la evolución y mantenimiento de estos atributos ha sido resultado de presiones selectivas ejercidas por los herbívoros, por ello se esperaría que se seleccionen a favor aquellos atributos que reduzcan el daño por herbívoros y se favorezcan "niveles defensivos altos" (Simms & Rausher, 1987; Rausher, 2001). Sin embargo, a lo largo del área de distribución geográfica de una especie, las poblaciones naturales de plantas suelen estar expuestas una gran variedad de herbívoros, que en los extremos pueden ir de los generalistas (se alimentan de una gran variedad de plantas que no están emparentadas) hasta los especialistas (consumen exclusivamente un grupo de especies relacionadas filogenéticamente) (Thompson, 2005; Lankau, 2007). Se ha hipotetizado que los atributos defensivos de las plantas son una barrera efectiva en contra de herbívoros generalistas, debido a que pueden alimentarse de diferentes especies de plantas, tendiendo diferentes alternativas en su dieta (Agrawal & Heil, 2012). Por el contrario, diferentes estudios han sugerido que los herbívoros especialistas han evolucionado mecanismos que les permiten sobreponerse a la defensa de las plantas (Shonle & Bergelson, 2000; Rausher, 2001; Kliebenstein et al., 2002; Lankau, 2007); incluso se ha propuesto que podrían estar utilizando estos atributos para elegir entre plantas (Nieminen et al., 2003; Bidart-Bouzat & Kliebenstein, 2008; Ali & Agrawal, 2012). Por ello, a lo largo de una región geográfica los atributos defensivos de una especie vegetal podrían estar sujetos a presiones selectivas contrastantes (Lankau, 2007). Esta selección variable espacialmente sería la "materia prima" necesaria para que ocurra la diferenciación poblacional en la interacción planta-herbívoro, promoviendo diferenciación fenotípica y variación espacial en los patrones de adaptación local entre especies

7

interactuantes (Thompson, 1994; Thompson, 2005). Así, investigar la variación geográfica de la interacción planta-herbívoro es de suma importancia para entender la evolución de las especies interactuantes (Muola, 2010) y para ayudarnos a explicar la gran variación en atributos defensivos que se observa en la naturaleza (Ali & Agrawal, 2012).

En este contexto esta tesis tuvo como objetivo estudiar a una escala geográfica (múltiples poblaciones), los atributos defensivos que median la interacción planta-herbívoro entre la hierba anual *Datura stramonium* y sus herbívoros en el centro de México. Para ello en el capítulo I estudié la asociación geográfica del daño foliar por herbívoros con la defensa química y física en 28 poblaciones de *D. stramonium*. En el capítulo II comparé si las presiones selectivas ejercidas por herbívoros generalistas y especialistas sobre atributos defensivos difieren significativamente en sentido y magnitud. El capítulo III evalué la existencia de adaptación local de *D. stramonium* a herbívoros generalistas y especialistas, así como a qué grado esta adaptación local es mediada por la defensa física de la planta. Finalmente en el capítulo IV exploré la evidencia de diferenciación adaptativa en atributos físicos y químicos en 13 poblaciones de *D. stramonium* en el centro de México.

# Capítulo I

Asociación geográfica y variación temporal de la defensa química y física y el daño foliar en Datura stramonium

### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Guillermo Castillo · Laura L. Cruz · Johnattan Hernández-Cumplido Ken Oyama · César Mateo Flores-Ortiz · Juan Fornoni Pedro L. Valverde · Juan Núñez-Farfán

# Geographic association and temporal variation of chemical and physical defense and leaf damage in *Datura stramonium*

Received: 26 November 2012 / Accepted: 15 May 2013 / Published online: 4 June 2013 © The Ecological Society of Japan 2013

Abstract The evolution of plant defense traits has traditionally been explained trough the "coevolutionary arms race" between plants and herbivores. According to this, specialist herbivores have evolved to cope effectively with the defensive traits of their host plants and may even use them as a cue for host location. We analyzed the geographic association between leaf trichomes, two tropane alkaloids (putative resistance traits), and leaf damage by herbivores in 28 populations of *Datura stramonium* in central Mexico. Since the specialist leaf beetles *Epitrix parvula* and *Lema trilineata* are the main herbivores of *D. stramonium* in central Mexico, we predicted a positive association between plant defense and leaf damage across populations. Also, if physical

**Electronic supplementary material** The online version of this article (doi:10.1007/s11284-013-1059-4) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

G. Castillo · L. L. Cruz · J. Fornoni · J. Núñez-Farfán (⊠) Laboratorio de Genética Ecológica y Evolución, Instituto de Ecología, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Circuito Exterior, Ciudad Universitaria, 04510 Mexico, Distrito Federal, Mexico E-mail: farfan@unam.mx

J. Hernández-Cumplido Laboratory of Evolutionary Entom

Laboratory of Evolutionary Entomology, Institute of Biology, University of Neuchâtel (UNINE), Emile Argand 11, 2009 Neuchâtel, Switzerland

#### K. Oyama

Centro de Investigaciones en Ecosistemas, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México (UNAM), Antigua Carretera a Pátzcuaro 8701, Col. Ex-Hacienda de San José de la Huerta, 58190 Morelia, Michoacán, Mexico

#### C. M. Flores-Ortiz

Laboratorio de Fisiología Vegetal, UBIPRO, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México Facultad de Estudios Superiores Iztacala, Apartado Postal 314, 54090 Mexico, Estado de México, Mexico

#### P. L. Valverde

Departamento de Biología, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana-Iztapalapa, Apartado postal 55-535, 09340 Mexico, Distrito Federal, Mexico

environmental conditions (temperature or precipitation) constrain the expression of plant defense, then the geographic variation in leaf damage should be explained partially by the interaction between defensive traits and environmental factors. Furthermore, we studied the temporal and spatial variation in leaf trichome density and leaf damage in five selected populations of D. stramonium sampled in two periods (1997 vs. 2007). We found a positive association between leaf trichomes density and atropine concentration with leaf damage across populations. The interaction between defensive traits and water availability in each locality had a significant effect on the geographic variation in leaf damage. Differences among populations in leaf trichome density are maintained over time. Our results indicate that local plant-herbivore interaction plays an important role in shaping the geographic and temporal variation in plant defense in D. stramonium.

**Keywords** Datura stramonium · Geographic variation · Herbivory · Tropane alkaloids · Leaf trichomes · Plant defense · Solanaceae

#### Introduction

Plants have evolved a vast array of defensive traits that prevent/reduce damage by herbivores (Rausher 2001; Núñez-Farfán et al. 2007). These defensive traits include thorns, spines, trichomes, and the so-called secondary chemical compounds like cyanogenic glycosides, cardenolides, or tropane alkaloids, among others (Ehrlich and Raven 1964; Berenbaum 1981; Mauricio and Rausher 1997; Ballhorn et al. 2009). The evolution of plant defenses and counter-defense traits by herbivores has traditionally been explained trough the "coevolutionary arms race" between plants and herbivores (Ehrlich and Raven 1964; Dawkins and Krebs 1979; Janzen 1980). Therefore, damage to plants exerted by herbivores is expected to reduce plant fitness components like growth rate, survival, and reproductive success (Strauss 1991). In turn, plant resistance traits that prevent or limit damage negatively affect herbivores' performance (Duffey and Isman 1981; Van Dam et al. 2000).

However, plant populations are commonly distributed across wide geographic areas facing a diverse array of herbivores, ranging from specialists (i.e., that feed upon a restricted group of plants) to generalists (i.e., those that feed upon several unrelated plant species). It has been proposed that generalist herbivores are effectively deterred by plant defenses whereas specialist herbivores are adapted and have evolved to cope effectively with the resistance traits of their preferred host plants (Rausher 2001; Cornell and Hawkins 2003). Furthermore, in many instances specialist herbivores have even evolved the ability to use these defensive traits as a cue to find their host plants (Dobler et al. 2011). Thus, at the geographic scale, the outcome of plant-herbivore interactions is likely to vary across populations as a function of the expression of defensive traits by local plants (e.g., related to genetic variance in defense, the environment, and their interaction; see Fornoni et al. 2004), and the degree of specialization and adaptation of herbivores (Van der Meijden 1996; Lankau 2007; Garrido et al. 2012). Moreover, constant selective pressure of herbivores on defensive traits along time within populations may lead to a stable geographic structure in defense traits (Nuismer et al. 2000).

Simultaneous analysis of multiple populations and temporal dynamics is needed in order to fully understand the variability in the ecological outcome of antagonistic interactions (Thompson and Fernandez 2006). Although numerous studies have demonstrated adaptive processes occurring within populations, much less evidence exists regarding how geographic variation in herbivory and plant defense traits is affected by ecological interactions within populations.

We studied the spatial variation in herbivory and defensive traits in 28 natural populations of the annual plant *Datura stramonium* across central Mexico (Brummitt & Powell): L., where it is consumed mainly by two specialist herbivores, the chrysomelid beetles *Epitrix parvula* and *Lema trilineata*, and on occasion by the generalist grasshopper *Sphenarium purpurascens* (Núñez-Farfán and Dirzo 1994). *D. stramonium* is a ruderal plant widely distributed in Mexico. Because of its broad geographic distribution, *D. stramonium* faces diverse biotic and abiotic conditions, constituting an ideal system for the study of the evolution of plant defensive in a geographical context (Thompson 1999).

Previous studies of *Datura stramonium* indicate that leaf trichomes reduce damage by herbivores. For instance, Valverde et al. (2001) found that leaf trichome density is a component of resistance against herbivory in *D. stramonium*, but the role of trichomes as a defensive character differs among populations in Central Mexico (i.e., spatial variation of selection on plant resistance). Recently, Kariñho-Betancourt (2009) found genetic variation and positive directional selection on leaf trichome density in *Datura stramonium* indicating its potential evolutionary response to variation in this character. Likewise, species in the genus *Datura* are known for the production of tropane alkaloids (Andersson et al. 2008), that affect the activity of acetylcholine (Brown and Taylor 2006) impairing insects' performance (Wink and Latz-Brüning 1994; Shonle 1999; Alves et al. 2007). Hyoscyamine and scopolamine are the two main alkaloids of D. stramonium (Shonle and Bergelson 2000), and atropine is formed by racemization. Atropine has the same pharmacological properties of hyoscyamine, but requires twice the dosage to achieve the same effect (Alexander et al. 2008). In a population of D. stramonium from Indiana USA, genetic variation of and natural selection on alkaloid concentration (scopolamine and hyoscyamine) has been detected (Shonle and Bergelson 2000). Directional phenotypic selection to reduce scopolamine and stabilizing selection for hyoscyamine concentration were detected despite low damage imposed by herbivores (ca. 1 % of total leaf area loss on average) (Shonle and Bergelson 2000). Furthermore, no genetic variance for resistance (1-relative damage) to Epitrix parvula in D. stramonium has been detected in a natural population from Mexico (Núñez-Farfán and Dirzo 1994). Variation in resistance can be partially attributed to the genetic load imposed by inbreeding in D. stramonium (Bello-Bedoy and Núñez-Farfán 2010, 2011).

Since tropane alkaloids and leaf trichomes are components of resistance to herbivores in *D. stramonium*, we hypothesized that the among-population variation in these resistance traits would be related to the level of leaf damage exerted by herbivores. Considering that *D. stramonium* is commonly consumed by its main specialist herbivores, *Epitrix parvula* and *Lema trilineata* (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae), we predict a positive association between plant defense expression and leaf damage across populations. Further, if physical environmental conditions (temperature or precipitation) act as a selection agent or constrain the expression of defensive attributes, then the geographic variation in leaf damage should be partially explained by the interaction between defensive traits and environmental factors.

In order to assess the temporal and among-population variation in the relationship between trichome density and leaf damage, we studied five selected populations of D. stramonium that were previously analyzed for the same traits (see Valverde et al. 2001).

Our goals were to (1) analyze geographic variation in defensive characters (leaf trichome density, and tropane alkaloid concentration, atropine and scopolamine) and leaf damage imposed by herbivores; (2) assess the relationship between leaf damage, defensive traits, and environmental variables, and (3) analyze the temporal variation in leaf trichome density and leaf damage for a set of populations sampled 10 years apart.

#### Method

#### Study system

Datura stramonium L. (Solanaceae), known as jimsonweed, is a widely distributed annual herb that grows

along roadsides and disturbed environments in Mexico, USA, Canada, and Europe (Weaver et al. 1985; Núñez-Farfán and Dirzo 1994; Shonle and Bergelson 2000; Valverde et al. 2001). In central Mexico, D. stramonium is consumed mainly by the specialist leaf beetles Lema trilineata and Epitrix parvula. In some populations of D. stramonium, the generalist grasshopper Sphenarium purpurascens (Orthoptera: Pyrgomorphidae) can also occasionally consume jimsonweed leaves (Núñez-Farfán and Dirzo 1994). A full description of the plant, insects, and leaf damage type produced by folivores can be found elsewhere (Núñez-Farfán and Dirzo 1994). Previous studies in D. stramonium have shown that leaf damage caused by these insects reduces plant fitness, and that alkaloids and leaf trichomes are can serve both as defensive traits and feeding stimulants to herbivores (Shonle and Bergelson 2000; Valverde et al. 2001; Kariñho-Betancourt 2009; Bello-Bedoy and Núñez-Farfán 2011).

#### Sampling

In September–October 2007, we sampled 28 populations of *D. stramonium* in central and eastern Mexico (Fig. 1) over a wide range of habitat types occupied by this species (Hernández-Cumplido 2009). The geographic location and climatic characteristics of each locality are summarized in Table S1. In order to measure the extent of damage by herbivores in each population, ten randomly chosen plants of *D. stramonium* were sampled to estimate the population mean of leaf trichome density, concentration of two tropane alkaloids (atropine and scopolamine), and the proportion of leaf damage by herbivores. From each individual, 20 randomly selected 665

leaves (including the petiole) were harvested, extended horizontally on paper sheets, labeled, and kept flat using a botanical press. Pressed leaves were dried at ambient temperature in the glasshouse for further analysis in the laboratory (leaf area, trichome density, and tropane alkaloids). All individuals were sampled during the reproductive stage to avoid bias due to plant age (Avery et al. 1959; Núñez-Farfán 1991). Additionally, we counted the number of branches per individual in order to obtain mean plant size per population as an estimator of each population's productivity (Bello-Bedoy and Núñez-Farfán 2010).

#### Leaf damage and trichome density

The proportion of damage by herbivores per plant  $(p_i)$  was estimated by dividing the damaged leaf area (DLAi) by estimated total leaf area (TLAi) in a sample of ten randomly chosen leaves. Total leaf area was estimated using a regression analysis of leaf area as a function of leaf length following (Núñez-Farfán and Dirzo 1994; Valverde et al. 2001), using a sample of undamaged leaves. Since leaf shape and area different slightly among populations, we used a different equation for each population ( $R^2$  ranging from 0.887 to 0.954, p < 0.001,  $n \ge 30$ ). The remaining leaf area was measured using a Win-Dias image analyzer (Delta-T Devices Ltd., Cambridge, UK).

Leaf trichome density per plant was obtained from the same sample of leaves used to estimate proportion of leaf damage by herbivores. Average leaf trichome density was estimated by counting the trichomes in five observation fields of 2.5 mm<sup>2</sup> using a dissecting microscope. Observation fields were located at different



Fig. 1 Central and eastern Mexico map showing *Datura stramonium* populations studied during September–October 2007 regions in the adaxial side of the leaf in order to account for spatial variation within the leaf: (1) Basal central area, (2) bottom right edge, (3) lower left edge, (4) top right edge, and (5) upper left edge.

#### Alkaloid concentration

For each plant, we quantified the two most abundant alkaloids of D. stramonium (atropine and scopolamine) by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). Dried leaves were macerated and maintained for 12 h in 20 ml of methanol (MeOH). The supernatant was filtered and MeOH was evaporated completely at 60 °C. Subsequently, 10 ml of hydrochloric acid (HCl) 0.1 N was added and rinsed twice with 10 ml of chloroform (CHCl<sub>3</sub>), recovering the aqueous phase. HCl was neutralized with 0.8166 g of sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO<sub>3</sub>) and rinsed twice with 10 ml of CHCl<sub>3</sub>, and this time the organic phase was recovered. Finally, chloroform was evaporated to dryness at 65 °C. The dried samples were re-suspended in 1 ml of methanol before being injected into the HPLC. The samples were injected into HP/Agilent 1100 HPLC equipment with a reverse phase column Discovery C-18 (Supelco Analytical) at 23 °C. The injection volume was 30 µl and the flow rate was 1 ml/ min. Following Kursinszki et al. (2005), the mobile phase was a solution of acetonitrile, methanol, and a 30 mM phosphate buffer, pH 6.00 (12:7.9:80.1 v/v/v). DAD detector was used at a wavelength of 210 nm. The curves obtained in each run were compared with a standard solution of atropine and scopolamine (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) 1 mg/ml. Mean population alkaloid concentration was estimated averaging ten plants per population. Concentrations are expressed in mg/g.

#### Environmental variables

Mean annual temperature and precipitation of each locality of *D. stramonium* were obtained from the Worldclim database (Hijmans and Graham 2006). For each population, Lang's aridity index (Rehman 2010) was calculated by dividing population mean annual rainfall by mean annual temperature, obtaining values close to zero in arid locations and high values in humid locations (Oliver 2005).

#### Data analysis

To detect differences in leaf trichome density, alkaloid concentration, and leaf damage among populations, we performed a one-way MANOVA. Subsequently, univariate one-way ANOVAs were performed for each response variable independently. Prior to statistical analyses, trichome density was square root transformed, the proportion of leaf damage was arcsine transformed, and the alkaloid concentration was log-transformed (Sokal and Rohlf 1995). Statistical analyses were performed with JMP statistical package v9.0 (SAS, 2010).

To assess whether the amount of plant damage exerted by herbivores in each population was associated with geographic variation in mean trichome density, mean alkaloid concentration, population plant vigor (mean plant size), and physical environmental conditions (Lang's index), a multiple regression analysis was performed. Due to sample-size limitations, the model included only second-order interactions. In addition, we evaluated the correlation between predictor variables with Pearson correlations.

Spatial and temporal variation in trichome density and foliar damage

To evaluate the spatial and temporal variation in leaf trichome density and leaf damage by herbivores, we compared the data collected in 1997 by Valverde et al. (2001) and 2007 for the same populations (see Valverde et al. 2001 for further details on data collection and sample size in 1997). The included populations were Actopan, Patria Nueva, Teotihuacán, Ticumán, and Zirahuén. We assessed spatial and temporal variation in trichome density and leaf damage by means of ANOVA that included the term year of collection (1997 vs. 2007), population, and their interaction as predictor variables. We also assessed whether the relationship between trichome density and leaf damage changed spatially and temporally (1997 vs. 2007 collections) by ANCOVA. This model included year, population, and trichome density as a covariate; leaf damage was the response variable. Whenever population or year was significant, a Tukey-Kramer LSD post hoc test was conducted to determine which means differed. For the analyses, we estimated leaf trichome density and leaf damage following the same methods described in Valverde et al. (2001). Trichome density was estimated as the total number of trichomes within an area of 2.5 mm<sup>2</sup> on the basal central area of the adaxial side of the leaf using a dissecting microscope. The proportion of leaf damage was estimated as explained above. Sample sizes ranged from 10 to 20 plants per population.

#### Results

Among-population variation in leaf damage and defense traits

One-way MANOVA revealed a significant multivariate effect for the term population (Wilks'  $\lambda = 0.033$ , F = 10.4, df = 108, 828.22, p < 0.0001). Given the significance of the overall test, univariate ANOVAs for each variable were performed. The average proportion of leaf area damaged by herbivores was  $22 \pm 12$  % (SD) with a high coefficient of variation (CV) of 54.96 %. ANOVA showed significant differences among populations in leaf damage (F = 10.44, df = 27, p < 0.0001)



<sup>◄</sup> Fig. 2 Among-population variation in the average. a Proportion of leaf damage by herbivores, b leaf trichome density, and c leaf alkaloid concentration (atropine and scopolamine) of 28 populations of *Datura stramonium* in central and eastern Mexico. *Error* 

(Fig. 2a). The average leaf trichome density  $(\pm SD)$  was  $7.28 \pm 1.95$  trichomes (in 2.5 mm<sup>2</sup>) with a coefficient of variation of 26.87 %. ANOVA detected significant differences in the leaf trichome density among populations (F = 6.56, df = 27, p < 0.0001), (Fig. 2b). Furthermore, mean atropine concentration ( $\pm$ SD) was 0.78  $\pm$ 0.67 mg/g with a coefficient of variation of 86.31 %, and mean scopolamine concentration was  $0.89 \pm 0.75 \text{ mg/g}$ with a coefficient of variation of 84.59 %. ANOVA showed significant differences among populations for both atropine (F = 6.91, df = 27, p < 0.0001) and scopolamine (F = 16.14, df = 27, p < 0.0001) (Fig. 2c). Finally, we found significant differences among populations on average population plant size (number of branches) (F = 6.71, df = 27, p < 0.0001). Average population plant size was  $14.49 \pm 6.9$ .

#### Geographic patterns in defense

bars represent 1 SE

The multiple regression model was significant  $(F_{21} = 5.69, p = 0.0065)$ ; the included factors explained 60 % of variance in the mean proportion of leaf damage among populations. Significant effects of leaf trichome density and atropine concentration were detected. The interactions trichome density × atropine (Fig. 3a), atropine  $\times$  Lang's index (Figure S2a), and trichome density × Lang's index (Fig. 3b) were also Finally, interactions between atrosignificant. pine  $\times$  plant size (Fig. 3c), scopolamine  $\times$  plant size (Figure S2b), and trichome density  $\times$  plant size (Fig. 3d) were also significant (Table 1). We found significant correlations between factors, however these were generally low (Table S3).

Spatial and temporal variation in foliar damage and trichome density

We found significant differences among populations and years (1997 vs. 2007) in the proportion of leaf damage on plants of *D. stramonium*. A significant effect of the population  $\times$  year interaction was also detected (Table 2a). Average leaf damage by herbivores was significantly higher in 2007 than in 1997 for all five populations (Fig. 4a). Similarly, significant differences among populations and between years in leaf trichome density were detected. Moreover, population  $\times$  year interaction was significant (Table 2b). In the population of Actopan, leaf trichome density was significantly lower in 2007 than 1997 (Fig. 4b).





Fig. 3 Interaction surfaces between predictor variables resulting from the multiple regression model. **a** Leaf trichome density (in 2.5 mm<sup>2</sup>) × leaf scopolamine concentration (mg/g), **b** leaf trichome density × mean population plant size, **c** leaf atropine concentra-

The ANCOVA analysis, again, detected differences among populations and years, and an effect of trichome density on leaf damage only in interaction with population. The population  $\times$  trichome density and population  $\times$  year  $\times$  trichome density interactions were also statistically significant (Table 3).

#### Discussion

*Datura stramonium* displays high among-population variation in leaf damage by herbivores and defensive traits. We detected a geographic association between defensive characters, environmental factors, and leaf damage. According to our expectation, multiple regression analysis detected a positive significant effect of trichome density and atropine concentration on leaf damage, indicating that populations that showed high leaf trichome density also received high levels of leaf damage. Since *D. stramonium* is primarily consumed by

tion  $\times$  mean population plant size, and **d** leaf trichome density  $\times$  Lang's Index. Response variable in the four panels was the proportion leaf damage

the two specialists, *Epitrix parvula* and *Lema trilineata*, our results suggest that, at least for these two herbivores, defensive characters do not prevent or reduce herbivory, but rather, that these specialist herbivores are adapted to the defenses of *D. stramonium*. Thus, higher investment in defensive characters would not reduce damage by herbivores since herbivores are able to overcome the barriers that probably functioned to prevent or diminish their attack in the past (Janzen 1980; Berenbaum et al. 1986; Bowers and Puttick 1988; Zangerl and Berenbaum 1993; Lively et al. 2004). Herbivores of *D. stramonium* may have temporarily "escaped" from the "arms race" in some populations (Hanifin et al. 2008).

Furthermore, specialist herbivores may use tropane alkaloids as cues for plant location and perhaps as a defense against parasitoids (Agrawal and Heil 2012). In *D. stramonium*, Shonle and Bergelson (2000) have previously shown that scopolamine can act as a phagostimulant for the specialist flea beetle *Epitrix parvula*. Recently, Castillo et al. (in preparation) found a positive

Table 1Multiple regressionanalysis of the averageproportion of leaf damage byherbivores in differentpopulations of Daturastramonium from centralMexico

Source of variation	Estimate	SE	t	р
Intercept	-0.236621	0.347096	-0.68	0.5084
Trichome density	0.076559	0.023581	3.25	0.007
Lang's index	-0.003599	0.003108	-1.16	0.2694
Scopolamine	-0.770713	0.963115	-0.8	0.4391
Atropine	5.638847	1.159169	4.86	0.0004
Plant size	-0.002734	0.012347	-0.22	0.8285
Trichome density $\times$ Lang's index	0.002437	0.000782	3.12	0.0089
Trichome density $\times$ scopolamine	0.646523	0.41855	1.54	0.1484
Trichome density $\times$ atropine	1.172646	0.43811	2.68	0.0202
Trichome density $\times$ plant size	0.012043	0.004463	2.7	0.0194
Scopolamine $\times$ Lang's index	0.031263	0.037723	0.83	0.4234
Atropine × Lang's index	-0.210931	0.062216	-3.39	0.0054
Plant size $\times$ Lang's index	0.000552	0.000539	1.03	0.3255
Scopolamine × atropine	18.2762	13.38017	1.37	0.197
Scopolamine $\times$ plant size	-0.394301	0.147689	-2.67	0.0204
Atropine $\times$ plant size	-0.472894	0.176812	-2.67	0.0202

p-values equal to or lower than 0.05 are shown in bold type

Besides population, the model included alkaloids concentration, trichome density, and Lang's index as predictor variables

**Table 2** ANOVA of (a) the proportion of leaf damage and (b) leaf trichome density among 28 populations of *Datura stramonium* in 1997 and 2007

Source	df	<i>S. S</i> .	M.S.	F	р	$R^2$
(a) Proportion of leaf d	amage by herbiv	vores				
Population	4	1.2687299	0.317182	44.5745	< 0.0001	0.89
Year	1	6.0783616	6.078362	854.2088	< 0.0001	
Population $\times$ year	4	0.8523307	0.213083	29.9451	< 0.0001	
Error	138	0.9819776	0.007116			
Total	147	9.6089484				
(b) Leaf trichome densit	tv					
Population	4	40.746443	10.18661	54,5497	< 0.0001	0.69
Year	1	0.936728	0.93673	5.0162	0.0267	
Population $\times$ year	4	9.539837	2.38496	12.7715	< 0.0001	
Error	138	25.770142				
Total	147	91.302568				

*p*-values equal to or lower than 0.05 are shown in bold type

relationship between atropine concentration and herbivory by the specialists *Lema trilineata* and *Epitrix parvula* in four and two, respectively, *D. stramonium* populations. However, this specialist herbivore is absent in some populations of *D. stramonium*, which may give rise to differences in leaf damage (Andraca-Gómez 2009). In these populations, generalist herbivores like *Sphenarium purpurascens* are likely to be the main consumers of jimsonweed (G. Castillo and J. Núñez-Farfán, pers. obs.). If specialist and generalist herbivores respond differently to the plants' defensive traits they may impose differential/contrasting selection on plant defense (Lankau 2007).

Previous studies in *D. stramonium* point out that the specificity and abundance of herbivores is a key aspect determining the outcome of the plant-herbivore interaction. In some populations, tolerance, rather than resistance to herbivores may be favored by selection, and standing levels of damage may be uncoupled from defensive attributes (Fornoni et al. 2004; Carmona and Fornoni 2013). Unfortunately, we were not able to separate leaf damage according feeding habit of the

herbivores. Future studies must analyze explicitly the relationship between plant defense and specialization of herbivores at the local population level.

Multiple regression analysis also found that populations with higher atropine concentration and increased trichome density received more leaf damage. This supports the idea that multiple-trait defense is more common compared to single-trait defense (Paul and Hay 1986; Hartmann and Dierich 1998; Agrawal and Fishbein 2006), pointing that defense in D. stramonium is composed of multiple traits. Moreover, trichome density interacts with plant vigor, an indirect estimator of habitat's productivity. We found high levels of herbivory in populations of D. stramonium with high trichome density and high productivity (in terms of average plant size). These results are consistent with the hypothesis of Hochberg and Van Baalen (1998), which predicts that both plant defense and the impact of herbivores will be maximized in highly productive populations (due to the positive effect of plant productivity on herbivores). However, the interaction of atropine and scopolamine with plant vigor indicates that populations with higher



**Fig. 4** Spatial and temporal among population variation in **a** mean leaf trichome density and **b** mean leaf damage in five populations of *Datura stramonium* collected in 1997 and 2007. *Different letters* indicate significant differences among populations and *asterisks* indicate significant differences between years of collection at p > 0.05, following Tukey–Kramer LSD post hoc test. *Error bars* represent 1 SE

leaf damage were those with low productivity and high concentrations of both alkaloids. This contrast with predictions of Hochberg and Van Baalen (1998) but is consistent with the geographic pattern predicted when herbivores overcome plant defenses. Furthermore, these patterns may reflect the costs associated with alkaloid production (Shonle and Bergelson 2000).

Finally, we detected a significant interaction of Lang's index with both trichome density and atropine

concentration. Plant populations in drier habitats with high atropine concentration and trichome density showed higher levels of leaf damage. These patterns are consistent with the positive geographic association between plant defense traits and herbivory, but suggest that the interaction of water availability with alkaloids is different than its interaction with trichomes. Both leaf trichomes and alkaloid concentration are likely to be influenced by water availability (Wilkens et al. 1996; Baricevic et al. 1999; Gonzáles et al. 2008), but in opposite directions. High leaf trichome density has been found to reduce water loss indirectly by increasing light reflectance in dry environments (Ehleringer 1984; Rotondi et al. 2003), favoring higher densities in more arid environments, whereas alkaloid production may waterlimited, potentially decreasing alkaloid concentration in dry habitats (Baricevic et al. 1999).

Overall, differentiation among populations of D. stramonium in trichome density is maintained over time (in an interval of 10 years). Leaf trichome density differed between years only in the Actopan population, suggesting that despite environmental variation over time, local adaptive processes can promote and maintain population differences in trichome density (Kawecki and Ebert 2004; Siepielski et al. 2009). Leaf damage experienced in all five populations was higher in 2007 than in 1997, whereas trichome density remained stable in most populations. This may reflect that 10 years is not enough time to plant populations to adapt, and suggest the existence of environmental and/or genetic correlations with others traits, which might limit the evolutionary response of trichome density (Lande and Arnold 1983; Merilä et al. 2001; Wilson et al. 2006).

Furthermore, the relationship between trichome density and leaf damage changed among populations and time. Among-population differences in the relationship between trichomes and leaf damage may promote geographic structuring of the plant-herbivore interactions. Nevertheless, since the relationship between defensive traits and damage by herbivores changes over time, it is unlikely that such a structure remains stable, and thus populations may not attain an optimal leaf trichome density at each locality (Grant and Grant 2002). Our results suggest that the defensive role of tri-

Table 3 ANCOVA leaf damage proportion by herbivores among populations of Datura stramonium between 1997 and 2007

Source	df	<i>S. S.</i>	<i>M.S.</i>	F	р	$R^2$
Population	4	6.949429	1.73736	11.2851	< 0.0001	0.86
Year	1	15.845978	15.84598	102.9283	< 0.0001	
Trichome density	1	0.41272	0.41272	2.6808	0.104	
Population $\times$ year	4	3.678313	0.91958	5.9732	0.0002	
Population $\times$ trichome density	4	2.55901	0.63975	4.1555	0.0034	
Year $\times$ trichome density	1	0.060727	0.06073	0.3945	0.5311	
Population $\times$ year $\times$ trichome density	4	3.681963	0.92049	5.9791	0.0002	
Error	128	19.70581	0.15395			
Total	147	148				

p-values equal to or lower than 0.05 are shown in bold type

Leaf trichome density was used as a covariate

chome density changes over time as reported for other traits that mediate interactions (Siepielski et al. 2009). However, it is necessary to explicitly assess the consistency of the role of leaf trichome density as a defense in *D. stramonium*, in the face of spatio-temporal variation in the herbivore community.

Altogether, our results suggest that plant-herbivore interactions occurring at a local scale may have an important role in the shaping of the geographic and temporal variation of leaf damage by and plant defense to herbivores in *Datura stramonium*. However, further studies are needed to explicitly evaluate the role of natural selection imposed by herbivores in producing among-population variation in chemical and physical defensive traits, as well as the role of specialist vs. generalist herbivores as agents that give rise to the selection mosaic in *D. stramonium*. Accomplishing this will increase our knowledge of the evolution of plant-herbivore interactions at a large geographic scale.

Acknowledgments We thank Rosalinda Tapia López, Blanca Hernández, Martha Macías Rubalcava, María Teresa Caudillo, Luis Barbo, and Martha Urzúa Meza for laboratory assistance during HPLC quantification, and to the members of Laboratorio de Genética Ecológica y Evolución for logistic support and field assistance. We also thank the Laboratorio de Biogeoquímica FES-Iztacala and Laboratorio de Alelopatía of Instituto de Ecología, UNAM, for providing the facilities for laboratory work. This paper constitutes a partial fulfillment of the Graduate Program in Biological Sciences of the National Autonomous University of México (UNAM). GC acknowledges Lynna M. Kiere for her helpful comments on the MS and the scholarship and financial support provided by the National Council of Science and Technology (CONACyT), and UNAM. The study was funded by a CONACyT grant 81490 "Evolución de la defensa en plantas contra sus enemigos naturales" to JNF.

#### References

- Agrawal AA, Fishbein M (2006) Plant defense syndromes. Ecology 87:132–149
- Agrawal AA, Heil M (2012) Synthesizing specificity: multiple approaches to understanding the attack and defense of plants. Trends Plant Sci 17:239–242
- Alexander J et al (2008) Tropane alkaloids (from *Datura* sp.) as undesirable substances in animal feed. EFSA J 691:1–55
- Alves M, Sartoratto A, Trigo J (2007) Scopolamine in *Brugmansia suaveolens* (Solanaceae): defense, allocation, costs, and induced response. J Chem Ecol 33:297–309. doi:10.1007/s10886-006-9214-9
- Andersson HC, Brimer L, Cottrill B, Fink-Gremmels J, Jaroszewski J, Sørensen H (2008) Tropane alkaloids (from *Datura* sp.) as undesirable substances in animal feed: scientific opinion of the panel on contaminants in the food chain. EFSA J (691):1–55
- Andraca-Gómez G (2009) Genética de poblaciones comparada entre Datura stramonium y su herbívoro especialista Lema trilineata. Masters thesis, UNAM
- Avery A, Satina S, Rietsma J (1959) Blakeslee: the genus Datura, Chronica Botánica. Ronald Press Co, New York
- Ballhorn DJ, Kautz S, Heil M, Hegeman AD (2009) Cyanogenesis of wild lima bean (*Phaseolus lunatus* L.) is an efficient direct defence in nature. PLoS ONE 4:e5450

- Baricevic D, Umek A, Kreft S, Maticic B, Zupancic A (1999) Effect of water stress and nitrogen fertilization on the content of hyoscyamine and scopolamine in the roots of deadly nightshade (*Atropa belladonna*). Environ Exp Bot 42:17–24. doi:10.1016/ s0098-8472(99)00014-3
- Bello-Bedoy R, Núñez-Farfán J (2010) Cost of inbreeding in resistance to herbivores in *Datura stramonium*. Ann Bot 105: 747–753. doi:10.1093/aob/mcq038
- Bello-Bedoy R, Núñez-Farfán J (2011) The effect of inbreeding on defence against multiple enemies in *Datura stramonium*. J Evol Biol 24:518–530. doi:10.1111/j.1420-9101.2010.02185.x
- Berenbaum MR (1981) Patterns of furanocoumarin distribution and insect herbivory in the Umbelliferae: plant chemistry and community structure. Ecology 62:1254–1266. doi:10.2307/ 1937290
- Berenbaum MR, Zangerl AR, Nitao JK (1986) Constraints on chemical coevolution: wild parsnips and the parsnip webworm. Evolution 40:1215–1228
- Bowers MD, Puttick GM (1988) Response of generalist and specialist insects to qualitative allelochemical variation. J Chem Ecol 14:319–334. doi:10.1007/bf01022549
- Brown JH, Taylor P (2006) Goodman & Gilman's the pharmacological basis of therapeutics, 11th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Carmona D, Fornoni J (2013) Herbivores can select for mixed defensive strategies in plants. New Phytol 197:576–585
- Cornell HV, Hawkins BA (2003) Herbivore responses to plant secondary compounds: a test of phytochemical coevolution theory. Am Nat 161:507–522
- Dawkins R, Krebs JR (1979) Arms races between and within species. Proc R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 205:489–511
- Dobler S, Petschenka G, Pankoke H (2011) Coping with toxic plant compounds–The insect's perspective on iridoid glycosides and cardenolides. Phytochemistry 72:1593–1604
- Duffey S, Isman M (1981) Inhibition of insect larval growth by phenolics in glandular trichomes of tomato leaves. Cell Mol Life Sci 37:574–576. doi:10.1007/bf01990057
- Ehleringer JR (1984) Ecology and ecophysiology of leaf pubescence in North American desert plants. In: Rodriguez E, Healey PL and Mehta I (eds) Biology and Chemistry of Plant Trichomes. Plenum Press, New York, pp 113–132
  Ehrlich PR, Raven PH (1964) Butterflies and plants: a study in
- Ehrlich PR, Raven PH (1964) Butterflies and plants: a study in coevolution. Evolution 18:586–608
- Fornoni J, Valverde PL, Nunez-Farfan J (2004) Population variation in the cost and benefit of tolerance and resistance against herbivory in *Datura stramonium*. Evolution 58:1696–1704
- Garrido E, Andraca-Gómez G, Fornoni J (2012) Local adaptation: simultaneously considering herbivores and their host plants. New Phytol 193:445–453. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.03923.x
- Gonzáles WL, Negritto MA, Suárez LH, Gianoli E (2008) Induction of glandular and non-glandular trichomes by damage in leaves of Madia sativa under contrasting water regimes. Acta Oecol 33:128–132. doi:10.1016/j.actao.2007.10.004
- Grant PR, Grant BR (2002) Unpredictable evolution in a 30-year study of Darwin's finches. Science 296:707–711. doi:10.1126/science.1070315
- Hanifin CT, Brodie ED Jr, Brodie ED III (2008) Phenotypic mismatches reveal escape from arms-race coevolution. PLoS Biol 6:e60
- Hartmann T, Dierich B (1998) Chemical diversity and variation of pyrrolizidine alkaloids of the senecionine type: biological need or coincidence? Planta 206:443–451. doi:10.1007/s0042500 50420
- Hernández-Cumplido J (2009) Ecología de la interacción tritrófica *Datura stramonium*-Trichobaris sp.-parasitoides. Masters Thesis, UNAM
- Hijmans RJ, Graham CH (2006) The ability of climate envelope models to predict the effect of climate change on species distributions. Glob Change Biol 12:2272–2281. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-2486.2006.01256.x
- Hochberg ME, Van Baalen M (1998) Antagonistic coevolution over productivity gradients. Am Nat 152:620-634

- Kariñho-Betancourt E (2009) Disyuntiva evolutiva entre la resistencia y la tolerancia a los herbívoros en *Datura stramonium*. Masters Thesis, UNAM
- Kawecki TJ, Ebert D (2004) Conceptual issues in local adaptation. Ecol Lett 7:1225–1241. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00684.x
- Kursinszki L, Hank H, László I, Szoke É (2005) Simultaneous analysis of hyoscyamine, scopolamine, 6[beta]-hydroxyhyoscyamine and apoatropine in Solanaceous hairy roots by reversedphase high-performance liquid chromatography. J Chromatogr A 1091:32–39. doi:10.1016/j.chroma.2005.07.016
- Lande R, Arnold SJ (1983) The measurement of selection on correlated characters. Evolution 37:1210–1226
- Lankau RA (2007) Specialist and generalist herbivores exert opposing selection on a chemical defense. New Phytol 175:176–184. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.02090.x
- Lively CM, Dybdahl MF, Jokela J, Osnas EE, Delph LF (2004) Host sex and local adaptation by parasites in a snail-trematode interaction. Am Nat 164:S6–S18
- Mauricio R, Rausher MD (1997) Experimental manipulation of putative selective agents provides evidence for the role of natural enemies in the evolution of plant defense. Evolution 51:1435–1444
- Merilä J, Sheldon BC, Kruuk LEB (2001) Explaining stasis: microevolutionary studies in natural populations. Genetica 112–113:199–222. doi:10.1023/a:1013391806317
- Nuismer SL, Thompson JN, Gomulkiewicz R (2000) Coevolutionary clines across selection mosaics. Evolution 54:1102–1115. doi:10.1111/j.0014-3820.2000.tb00546.x
- Núñez-Farfán J (1991) Biología vegetal de Datura stramonium L. en el Centro de México: Selección natural de la resistencia a los herbívoros, sistema de cruzamiento y variación genética intra e interpoblacional. PhD dissertation, UNAM
- Núñez-Farfán J, Dirzo R (1994) Evolutionary ecology of *Datura* stramonium L. in central Mexico: natural selection for resistance to herbivorous insects. Evolution 48:423–436
- Núñez-Farfán J, Fornoni J, Valverde PL (2007) The evolution of resistance and tolerance to herbivores. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 38:541–566. doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.38.091206.095822

Oliver JE (2005) Encyclopedia of world climatology. New York

- Paul VJ, Hay ME (1986) Seaweed susceptibility to herbivory: chemical and morphological correlates. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 33:255–264
- Rausher MD (2001) Co-evolution and plant resistance to natural enemies. Nature 411:857–864
- Rehman S (2010) Temperature and rainfall variation over Dhahran, Saudi Arabia, (1970–2006). Int J Climatol 30:445–449. doi: 10.1002/joc.1907

- Rotondi A, Rossi F, Asunis C, Cesaraccio C (2003) Leaf xeromorphic adaptations of some plants of a coastal Mediterranean macchia ecosystem. J Mediter Ecol 4:25–36
- Shonle I (1999) Evolutionary ecology of tropane alkaloids. PhD dissertation, University of Chicago
- Shonle I, Bergelson J (2000) Evolutionary ecology of the tropane alkaloids of *Datura Stramonium* L. (Solanaceae). Evolution 54:778–788. doi:10.1111/j.0014-3820.2000.tb00079.x
- Siepielski AM, DiBattista JD, Carlson SM (2009) It's about time: the temporal dynamics of phenotypic selection in the wild. Ecol Lett 12:1261–1276. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01381.x
- Sokal RR, Rohlf FJ (1995) Biometry: the principles and practice of statistics in biological research. W. H. Freeman and Co, New York
- Strauss SY (1991) Direct, indirect, and cumulative effects of three native herbivores on a shared host plant. Ecology 72:543–558
- Thompson JN (1999) The coevolutionary process. University of Chicago Press, Illinois
- Thompson JN, Fernandez CC (2006) Temporal dynamics of antagonism and mutualism in a geographically variable plant– insect interaction. Ecology 87:103–112
- Valverde PL, Fornoni J, Núñez-Farfán J (2001) Defensive role of leaf trichomes in resistance to herbivorous insects in *Datura* stramonium. J Evol Biol 14:424–432
- Van Dam NM, Hadwich K, Baldwin IT (2000) Induced responses in *Nicotiana attenuata* affect behavior and growth of the specialist herbivore *Manduca sexta*. Oecologia 122:371–379. doi: 10.1007/s004420050043
- Van der Meijden E (1996) Plant defence, an evolutionary dilemma: contrasting effects of (specialist and generalist) herbivores and natural enemies. Entomol Exp Appl 80:307–310. doi:10.1007/ bf00194780
- Weaver S, Dirks V, Warwick S (1985) Variation and climatic adaptation in northern populations of *Datura stramonium*. Can J Bot 63:1303–1308
- Wilkens RT, Shea GO, Halbreich S, Stamp NE (1996) Resource availability and the trichome defenses of tomato plants. Oecologia 106:181–191. doi:10.1007/bf00328597
- Wilson AJ et al (2006) Environmental coupling of selection and heritability limits evolution. PLoS Biol 4:e216. doi:10.1371/ journal.pbio.0040216
- Wink M, Latz-Brüning B (1994) Allelopathic properties of alkaloids and other natural products. In: Allelopathy wrtjkejyk. American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, pp 117–126
- Zangerl AR, Berenbaum MR (1993) Plant chemistry, insect adaptations to plant chemistry, and host plant utilization patterns. Ecology 74:47–54

# Capítulo II

Mosaico selectivo ejercido por herbívoros especialistas y generalistas en la defensa química y física de *Datura stramonium* 

# Selection Mosaic Exerted by Specialist and Generalist Herbivores on Chemical and Physical Defense of Datura stramonium



Guillermo Castillo<sup>1</sup>, Laura L. Cruz<sup>1</sup>, Rosalinda Tapia-López<sup>1</sup>, Eika Olmedo-Vicente<sup>1</sup>, Diego Carmona<sup>1</sup>, Ana Luisa Anaya-Lang<sup>2</sup>, Juan Fornoni<sup>1</sup>, Guadalupe Andraca-Gómez<sup>1</sup>, Pedro L. Valverde<sup>3</sup>, Juan Núñez-Farfán<sup>1</sup>\*

1 Departamento de Ecología Evolutiva, Instituto de Ecología, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City, Distrito Federal, México, 2 Departamento de Ecología Funcional, Instituto de Ecología, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City, Distrito Federal, México, 3 Departamento de Biología, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana Iztapalapa, México City, Distrito Federal, México

#### Abstract

Selection exerted by herbivores is a major force driving the evolution of plant defensive characters such as leaf trichomes or secondary metabolites. However, plant defense expression is highly variable among populations and identifying the sources of this variation remains a major challenge. Plant populations are often distributed across broad geographic ranges and are exposed to different herbivore communities, ranging from generalists (that feed on diverse plant species) to specialists (that feed on a restricted group of plants). We studied eight populations of the plant Datura stramonium usually eaten by specialist or generalist herbivores, in order to examine whether the pattern of phenotypic selection on secondary compounds (atropine and scopolamine) and a physical defense (trichome density) can explain geographic variation in these traits. Following co-evolutionary theory, we evaluated whether a more derived alkaloid (scopolamine) confers higher fitness benefits than its precursor (atropine), and whether this effect differs between specialist and generalist herbivores. Our results showed consistent directional selection in almost all populations and herbivores to reduce the concentration of atropine. The most derived alkaloid (scopolamine) was favored in only one of the populations, which is dominated by a generalist herbivore. In general, the patterns of selection support the existence of a selection mosaic and accounts for the positive correlation observed between atropine concentration and plant damage by herbivores recorded in previous studies.

Citation: Castillo G, Cruz LL, Tapia-López R, Olmedo-Vicente E, Carmona D, et al. (2014) Selection Mosaic Exerted by Specialist and Generalist Herbivores on Chemical and Physical Defense of Datura stramonium. PLoS ONE 9(7): e102478. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0102478

Editor: Erik Sotka, College of Charleston, United States of America

Received January 10, 2014; Accepted June 19, 2014; Published July 22, 2014

Copyright: © 2014 Castillo et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: Financial support was provided by CONACyT grant 81490 "Evolución de la defensa en plantas contra sus enemigos naturales." The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

\* Email: farfan@unam.mx

#### Introduction

Coevolution, the reciprocal evolutionary change between interacting species, has been considered a key process in the evolution of both plants and their natural enemies [1-4]. In particular, it has been used to explain the evolution of the great diversity of defensive traits in plants, such as trichomes, spines, resins, or secondary metabolites [5,6]. This theory assumes that herbivores exert selective pressures on traits that reduce herbivore damage [4,7]. Given that herbivory generally decreases plant fitness, natural selection is expected to favor high levels of these defensive traits [8-10].

Nonetheless, plant populations are often distributed along wide geographic areas, and are thus exposed to different herbivore communities, ranging from generalists (which feed upon a wide diversity of hosts), to specialists (which feed on a related group of species) [11–13]. It has been hypothesized that defensive traits are an effective barrier against generalist herbivores, because these herbivores can feed on alternative plants, (but see [14]). On the other hand, several studies have suggested that specialist herbivores have evolved mechanisms to overcome host defenses [6,12,15,16]. Moreover, specialist herbivores may be able to identify their hosts based on defensive traits such as secondary metabolites, imposing negative selection on these traits [11,17,18]. Thus, along the distribution of a plant species, defensive traits such as trichomes and secondary metabolites may be under contrasting selective pressures arising from multiple interacting species [19]. Such spatially variable selection is expected to change the population mean of traits, promoting population differentiation in defensive traits [20-22]. Although there is much evidence of selection on plant defenses, there is less evidence regarding spatially variable selection by herbivores on defensive traits (see [23,24]). Furthermore, few studies have explicitly evaluated whether specialist and generalist herbivores exert different selection pressures on defensive traits [12].

Datura stramonium (Solanaceae) is an ideal system for studying variable selection patterns acting on defensive traits at a geographic scale. It typically grows in disturbed and agricultural habitats in Mexico, Canada, and the United States [25-27]. Due to its wide distribution, D. stramonium is exposed to a wide variety of herbivores and diverse environmental conditions. Most Mexican populations of D. stramonium are attacked by the specialist herbivore Lema daturaphila [28]. However, there are populations where L. daturaphila is absent, and where the main herbivores are *Epitrix parvula*, (specialist herbivore of the Solanaceae family) [29], and the generalist Sphenarium purpurascens (Núñez-Farfán and Guillermo Castillo, pers. obs.). Specifically, D. stramonium features leaf trichomes and tropane alkaloids as defensive traits that prevent herbivory [16,26]. Previous studies have documented that these traits can evolve by selection by herbivores [16,30]. Atropine is the substrate alkaloid used to produce the derived and more toxic scopolamine [31]. Recently, Castillo et al. [32] found a positive geographic association between atropine concentration and leaf damage across 28 D. stramonium populations in central Mexico, suggesting that atropine may not be an effective deterrent against herbivory. However, it is unclear whether selection exerted by generalist and/or specialist herbivores of D. stramonium drive this pattern. Specialized herbivores are expected to promote a more intense coevolutionary dynamic with the host plant, as they are more likely to adapt to the host chemical and physical barriers, imposing strong selection, and promoting counter-resistance host response [33-35]. Thus, while atropine may be less effective against herbivores than scopolamine [36], the benefits of tropane alkaloids should be higher against generalist rather than specialist herbivores.

Here, we evaluated whether selection imposed by specialized and/or generalized herbivores on plant defenses matches the among-population variation in defensive traits of *D. stramonium* recorded in a previous study [32]. To do so, we performed phenotypic selection analyses to explore the mode and intensity of selection acting on chemical (atropine, scopolamine) and physical (leaf trichomes) defensive traits in eight populations of *D. stramonium* attacked mainly by generalist or specialist herbivores. Next, we explored whether higher concentration of the derived alkaloid (scopolamine) is associated with higher plant fitness benefits, and whether selection for this secondary compound is more intense against generalist than specialist herbivores.

#### Methods

#### **Ethics Statement**

No specific permissions were required to make observations and to collect plant material of D. *stramonium* in the locations sampled in this study, nor is this species endangered and protected by the Mexican Government.

#### Study system

Datura stramonium L. (Solanaceae) is an annual herb commonly distributed in cultivated areas, roadsides and disturbed environments in Mexico, the United States, Canada, and Europe [16,26,28,37,38]. This species reproduces mainly by self-fertilization, and has limited pollen and seed dispersal [39]. Leaves of D. stramonium are consumed primarily by the specialist folivorous beetle Lema daturaphila [28], the oligophagous flea beetle Epitrix parvula (which consumes other members of the Solanaceae family) [29], and the generalist grasshopper Sphenarium purpurascens [28]. Lema daturaphila damage is characteristic, as both adults and larvae consume the leaf blade while avoiding the main vascular bundles (pers. obs.). Epitrix parvula damage consists of small holes on the leaves. Although damage can be severe, whole leaves are rarely totally consumed [28]. Damage exerted by Sphenarium purpurascens consists of round-to-ragged holes in the leaves, typically originating from the leaf margins. Although leaf damage can be complete, grasshoppers usually leave partially

defoliated leaves (G. Castillo personal observation). Previous studies have found that leaf damage significantly reduces plant fitness [28,40] and that leaf trichomes and tropane alkaloids are defensive traits against herbivores [16,26,30,32,41].

#### Sampled Population

From August-September 2011 we sampled eight natural populations of *D. stramonium* in central Mexico (Fig. 1). The sampled populations occurred within different plant communities (see Table S1). The linear distances between populations ranged from 20 to 300 km. In each population we sampled  $\pm$  30 randomly selected individual plants. From each plant we collected a random sample of 20 leaves, and all the fruits produced. In addition, we recorded the predominant damage type caused by each herbivore feeding on *D. stramonium* in each population. The most frequent herbivore species at each population is listed in Table 1. Our field observations and leaf damage records during 3 years indicate that the predominant herbivores at each population remained stable throughout the 2010–2012 period.

#### Trichome density and plant fitness

Trichome density was estimated as the total number of trichomes in an observation field of  $2.5 \text{ mm}^2$  located in the central basal region of the adaxial side of the leaf [26]. Average trichome density per plant was obtained from a sample of 20 randomly chosen, fully expanded leaves. The mean trichome density for each population was calculated for a sample of approximately 30 individuals. We used total fruit number as a proxy of plant fitness. Since *D. stramonium* is an annual selfing plant, fruit number is a good estimator of lifetime maternal fitness [8].

#### Tropane alkaloid concentration

We used HPLC to quantify the concentration of atropine and scopolamine (two major alkaloids in *D. stramonium*) from a sample of 20 leaves per plant. The extraction method consisted of a series of acid-base reactions (see [32]). The samples were injected into a Waters Alliance 2695 HPLC device. We used a reverse-phase column (Discovery C-18 Supelco Analytical) at 30°C. The injection volume was 30  $\mu$ L with a flow rate of 1 mL/min. The mobile phase was a solution of acetonitrile, methanol and a 30 mM phosphate buffer at a pH of 6.00 (9:6.9:84.1, v/v/v). The DAD detector used a wavelength of 210 nm. The curves obtained from each sample were compared against a standard solution of atropine and scopolamine (Sigma-Aldrich Laboratories, 1 mg/mL). The mean alkaloid



Figure 1. *Datura stramonium* populations sampled in Central Mexico (See Table S1). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0102478.g001

Table 1. Selection differentials (S) of trichome density, atropine, and scopolamine concentration in eight populations of Datura stramonium.

Population	Main herbivore	Defensive trait	5	SE	t	Р
Acolman (N=31)	Lema daturaphila	Trichome density	0.116	0.192	0.604	0.55
		Atropine	0.416	0.182	-2.284	0.029
		Scopolamine	-0.089	0.197	-0.456	0.652
Patria Nueva (N=30)	Lema daturaphila	Trichome density	-0.197	0.103	-1.905	0.067
		Atropine	-0.183	0.104	-1.753	0.09
		Scopolamine	-0.269	0.097	-2.756	0.01
Joquicingo (N=31)	Lema daturaphila	Trichome density	-0.234	0.184	-1.277	0.211
		Atropine	-0.303	0.187	-1.62	0.116
		Scopolamine	-0.036	0.195	-0.186	0.854
San Martín (N = 29)	Lema daturaphila	Trichome density	0.205	0.151	1.36	0.186
		Atropine	-0.331	0.142	-2.332	0.027
		Scopolamine	-0.106	0.154	-0.685	0.499
Tzin Tzun Tzan (N=30)	Epitrix parvula	Trichome density	-0.347	0.099	-3.488	0.001
		Atropine	-0.151	0.122	-1.233	0.228
		Scopolamine	0.107	0.128	0.837	0.41
Valsequillo (N = 33)	Epitrix parvula	Trichome density	-0.051	0.099	-0.552	0.605
		Atropine	-0.255	0.088	-2.89	0.006
		Scopolamine	-0.052	0.099	-0.533	0.598
Sanabria (N=34)	Sphenarium purpurascens	Trichome density	-0.188	0.187	-1.004	0.324
		Atropine	-0.228	0.178	-1.281	0.209
		Scopolamine	-0.071	0.182	-0.39	0.699
Santo Domingo (N = 30)	Sphenarium purpurascens	Trichome density	-0.083	0.204	-0.409	0.686
		Atropine	-0.392	0.191	-2.055	0.049
		Scopolamine	0.65	0.164	3.965	0.001

Significant values appear in bold-type fonts. Standard error (SE) of estimates, t-test value, and probability (P) are provided. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0102478.t001

concentration (mg/g) per population was estimated from a sample of  $\pm 30$  plants.

#### Data analysis

Among-population variation in plant defenses. Before conducting statistical analyses, we assessed among-population differences in defensive traits of the studied eight populations. A multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was performed on leaf damage, trichome density, and concentrations of atropine and scopolamine. These analyses were equivalent to those published elsewhere (see [32]), but applied in this case to our eight selected populations. Our analyses detected significant differences in defensive traits among the eight populations of D. stramonium (Wilks'  $\lambda = 0.1477$ ,  $F_{28, 848.73} = 30.697$ , P < 0.0001). Univariate ANOVAs showed significant differences in trichome density (F 7.  $_{238} = 7.55, P < 0.0001$ ), atropine (F <sub>7, 239</sub> = 2.96, P = 0.0053) and scopolamine concentration (F  $_{7, 239} = 4.10$ , P = 0.0003) (Fig. S1).

Phenotypic selection on defensive traits. Following the Lande and Arnold approach [42], we used multivariate selection analyses to estimate the magnitude and direction of linear and non-linear selection acting on defensive traits for each population. Standardized partial linear selection gradients ( $\beta$ ) were obtained by fitting a linear regression that considered relative plant fitness as the response variable and all three defensive traits as predictor variables. Because our sample size precluded the estimation of reliable non-linear selection gradients, only directional selection

gradients are presented here. Defensive traits were standardized  $(\mu = 0, \sigma^2 = 1)$  and fitness was relativized for each population prior to the analyses. Regression analyses were performed using the function *lm* in R 3.0.2 [43].

Before conducting selection analyses, correlations between predictor variables were examined within each population to avoid strong multicollinearity in subsequent analyses. These analyses revealed that concentrations of atropine and scopolamine were positively correlated in six out of eight populations (Table S2). Only in two populations scopolamine was positively correlated with trichome density (Table S2). All other correlations between defensive traits were non-significant (Table S2). Therefore, we estimated selection differentials, as the slope of the univariate regression of population relative fitness on standardized traits [44]. These estimates measure changes in the distribution of a trait due to direct and indirect selection, when traits are correlated.

Differential selection among herbivore species. To assess whether patterns of selection on defensive traits are consistent among populations and herbivores, we estimated effect sizes for each differential and selection gradient. Effect sizes were used to compare estimates of phenotypic selection corresponding to populations consumed by different herbivore species [45]. Because the differentials and selection gradients were obtained from regression models with the same covariance structure, slopes are reliable metrics to estimate effect sizes [46]. Effect sizes were estimated using the slopes and their corresponding variances

(estimated as:  $V_{\beta} = SE_{\beta}^{2}$ ) [47] to weight each of them by level of certainty. In order to account for between-population variation, we applied a random-effect model following an Omnibus Test  $(Q_m)$  [45]. We concluded that, when confidence intervals around mean effect size did not overlap with zero, a particular species of herbivore exerted a significant effect on the pattern of selection of a focal defensive trait. We used *metafor* [48] from R package to perform the analyses.

#### Results

#### Phenotypic selection on defensive traits

Multiple regression analyses revealed significant directional selection acting on defensive traits in five out of the eight studied populations (see Table 1). Trichome density was negatively selected in the Tzin Tzun Tzan population, and positively selected in the San Martín and Santo Domingo populations. Atropine concentration was negatively selected in the Acolman, San Martin and Valsequillo populations, whereas scopolamine concentration was selected positively in the Acolman population (Table 1).

Univariate association between traits and fitness (selection differentials) indicated strong geographic variation in the pattern of selection acting on defensive traits. Secondary metabolites were more responsive than physical defenses in the presence of natural herbivores. Tropane alkaloids had positive, negative or neutral effects on fitness. Atropine concentration was selected against in three populations (San Martín, Santo Domingo and Valsequillo), and positively selected in one population (Acolman) (Table 2). Scopolamine concentration was positively selected in one population (Santo Domingo) and negatively selected in another population (Patria Nueva). Trichome density was negatively selected in one population only (Tzin Tzun Tzan) (Table 2). In two populations (Joquicingo and Sanabria) no evidence was detected of selection on plant defensive traits (Table 2).

#### Differential selection among herbivore species

Trichome density was selected against in those populations eaten by E. parvula, while no consistent pattern was detected for the other herbivore species (Table S3). A comparison of selection differentials among herbivore species indicated a consistent trend in all species to select against the production of atropine, since mean effect sizes did not overlap zero and were negative (Figure 2). Mean effect sizes for scopolamine also showed a trend indicating that this alkaloid was selected against by the more specialized herbivore (L. daturaphila) followed by the less specialized beetle (E. parvula), and it was favored by the generalist grasshopper (Figure 2, Table S3). Mean effect sizes for scopolamine also showed a trend indicating that this alkaloid was selected against by the more specialized herbivore (L. daturaphila) followed by the less specialized beetle (E. parvula), while it was favored by the generalist grasshopper (Figure 2, Table S3). Differences between the mean effect sizes of selection differentials and those estimated for gradients of selection indicate that indirect selection is also consistent at this level of analysis. However, the contrast between the mean effect sizes (from differentials and gradients) indicates that direct selection is acting in a dominant fashion against scopolamine concentration (Table S3).

#### Discussion

Our findings revealed significant geographic variation in selection patterns on defensive traits of D. *stramonium* in central Mexico. Despite this spatial variation, we were able to detect herbivore-specific effects on selection in plant defenses. All

herbivore species selected for a reduction in the concentration of the "older" tropane alkaloid (atropine) suggesting that this secondary compound is no longer beneficial as a deterrent against herbivory, and that it entails a fitness cost to the host plant. In addition, the more toxic derived alkaloid (scopolamine) was more effective against the generalist rather than the specialist herbivores, which supports our initial expectation. Although previous studies in natural populations of *D. stramonium* showed significant selection favoring higher levels of trichome density [26], the present analyses detected a marginal fitness effect of trichome density in almost all populations examined. Overall the strong pattern of selection against the production of atropine is consistent with the previous finding of a positive geographic association between atropine and leaf damage within the same region [32].

Empirical evidence suggests that the spatial variation of traits that mediate the plant-herbivore interaction is a common phenomenon in nature. Yet understanding the origin and maintenance of such variation has proven to be challenging. Selection by herbivores is a major force shaping the evolution of plant defensive traits such as trichomes or secondary metabolites [5,6]. However, along their distribution, plant species are exposed to specialized and/or generalist herbivores [11,12]. Depending of their level of specialization, herbivores are expected to exert contrasting selective pressures on plant defense [11]. This is likely to produce spatially variable selection on defensive traits along the distribution of a species [49]. According the Geographic Mosaic Theory of Coevolution (GMCT, Thompson, [13]), selection mosaics constitute the raw material that promotes and maintains variation in those traits that are involved in species interactions. Here, we found evidence of spatially variable selection exerted by herbivores in both the chemical and physical defense of D. stramonium. Furthermore, in line with GMCT predictions, we found ample geographic variation in the defensive traits, similarly to what has been previously reported [26,32] for trichome density, atropine and scopolamine concentrations of D. stramonium.

Estimation and interpretation of selection patterns is fundamental to form predictions about the evolution of defensive traits [50]. Differences in selective patterns among populations can lead to among-population differences in defensive traits [49]. In this study we found evidence of spatially variable phenotypic selection on defensive traits in populations facing different herbivore species (putative selective agents). Selection differentials indicate that both atropine and scopolamine were selected against in populations consumed by L. daturaphila and/or E. parvula. Thus, in the presence of genetic variation underlying the expression of tropane alkaloids, we suggest that atropine and scopolamine concentrations should be reduced in these populations. The contrast between differentials and gradients of selection for the studied alkaloids indicates that, while direct selection reduces atropine concentration, indirect selection reduces scopolamine. Since atropine is the precursor of scopolamine [51] and their concentrations are positively correlated (as detected in this study; see also Shonle & Bergelson, [16]), direct selection acting on atropine is likely conditioning the adaptive value of scopolamine as well. Nevertheless, in one of the studied populations (Santo Domingo), consumed by the generalist grasshopper S. purpurascens, selection favored an increase in scopolamine and a reduction in atropine concentrations. Although in this population no evidence of a positive correlation between alkaloids was detected, this contrasting selection could still explain why these costly chemical defenses are maintained. In addition, differences between selection differentials and gradients for trichome density and scopolamine concentration suggest that indirect selection represents an important force driving the evolution of plant chemical defense.

**Table 2.** Multiple regression analyses to estimate linear selection gradients ( $\beta$ ) for trichome density, atropine, and scopolamine concentration in eight populations of *Datura stramonium*.

Population	Main herbivore	Defensive trait	ß	SE	t	Р
Acolman (N=31)	Lema daturaphila	Trichome density	-0.014	0.174	-0.08	0.937
		Atropine	-0.985	0.293	-3.359	0.002
		Scopolamine	0.703	0.29	2.422	0.022
Patria Nueva (N=30)	Lema daturaphila	Trichome density	-0.096	0.124	-0.778	0.444
		Atropine	-0.068	0.13	-0.526	0.603
		Scopolamine	-0.178	0.153	-1.163	0.255
loquicingo (N=31)	Lema daturaphila	Trichome density	-0.194	0.196	-0.992	0.33
		Atropine	-0.258	0.196	-1.318	0.199
		Scopolamine	0.038	0.197	0.19	0.851
San Martín (N = 29)	Lema daturaphila	Trichome density	0.328	0.146	2.244	0.034
		Atropine	-0.522	0.171	-3.054	0.005
		Scopolamine	0.291	0.178	1.631	0.115
Tzin Tzun Tzan (N=30)	Epitrix parvula	Trichome density	-0.316	0.115	-2.759	0.01
		Atropine	-0.208	0.14	-1.49	0.149
		Scopolamine	0.253	0.132	1.908	0.068
	Epitrix parvula					
/alsequillo (N = 33)		Trichome density	-0.009	0.089	-0.104	0.917
		Atropine	-0.357	0.113	-3.154	0.003
		Scopolamine	0.166	0.113	1.47	0.152
Sanabria (N=34)	Sphenarium purpurascens	Trichome density	-0.189	0.2	-0.945	0.353
		Atropine	-0.335	0.222	-1.507	0.143
		Scopolamine	0.17	0.231	0.739	0.466
Santo Domingo (N = 30)	Sphenarium purpurascens	Trichome density	0.04	0.014	2.769	0.01
		Atropine	-0.012	0.014	-0.82	0.419
		Scopolamine	-0.018	0.013	-1.374	0.181

Significant gradients appear in bold-type fonts. Standard error (SE) of estimates, t-test value, and probability (P) are provided. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0102478.t002

The specialist-generalist paradigm of host plant use by herbivores predicts that specialized herbivores should be less affected by plant defenses than generalists [52]. This expectation is based on the existence of a trade-off, such that being able to consume a diverse diet constrains the opportunities to specialize on a given host [53-55]. In turn, if plants are involved in a coevolutionary arms-race with herbivores through chemical defenses [56], recently evolved secondary plant compounds should be more effective against consumers than their ancestors [36]. Our results provide correlative evidence in support of theoretical expectations, since the precursor tropane alkaloid atropine had no positive effect on plant fitness, while the more derived alkaloid (scopolamine) was still effective against the generalist but not to the specialist herbivore (L. daturaphila). Accordingly, specialized herbivores may be even using atropine in order to select D. stramonium plants. Nonetheless, a pattern of directional selection for an increase in scopolamine was detected in one of the populations consumed by the generalist grasshopper, so it not possible to draw conclusions about the potential of this herbivore to affect the evolution of this tropane alkaloid. In addition, in one of the populations dominated by the specialized beetle L. daturaphila, atropine was favored by selection suggesting that the current coevolutionary state of the interaction at each population, together with gene flow among populations, could

also account for the maintenance of these secondary compounds. Overall, the strong directional selection found for all herbivore species against atropine may explain the positive correlation recorded between herbivory damage and atropine concentration for a set of 28 plant populations within the same studied region in central Mexico [32].

#### Conclusion

Empirical evidence suggests that spatial variation of traits that mediate interactions is a common phenomenon in nature. However, understanding the origin and maintenance of such variation has proven to be challenging. In this study, we provide evidence of spatially variable selection exerted by herbivores on physical and chemical defensive traits of *D. stramonium*. Local selective pressures are likely to produce the observed divergence in defensive traits at a geographic scale. However, further studies are still needed that explicitly evaluate the role of selection by herbivores in shaping trait divergence. In addition, future research should evaluate whether local adaptation to specialist and generalist herbivores occurs in nature, and to what extent it is mediated by defensive traits. Such research would increase our understanding of the great variation in defensive trait diversity in the wild.



Effect size (standardized selection differentials)

Figure 2. Forest plot showing the mean effect size for standardized selection differentials (5) of each defensive trait and corresponding confidence interval at 95%. Different colors and forms denote different species of herbivores: Tangerine squares: *Lema daturaphila*; black circles: *Epitrix parvula*, and purple diamonds: *Sphenarium purpurascens*. Corresponding values are reported in Table S3. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0102478.g002

#### **Supporting Information**

Figure S1 Among-population variation in a) leaf trichome density, b) atropine concentration, and c) scopolamine concentration in eight populations of *Datura stramonium* in central Mexico. Bars represent average value +1 standard error. (DOC)

Table S1 Datura stramonium populations sampled inAugust-September 2011. DS = Desert shrub, POF = Pine-Oak forest TDF = Tropical deciduous forest.(DOC)

Table S2 Correlations (r) between trichome density, scopolamine, and atropine concentration in eight populations of *Datura stramonium* in central Mexico. Significant correlations appear in bold-type fonts. (DOC)

Table S3 Effect sizes for selection differential (S) and gradients ( $\beta$ ) of selection with their corresponding confidence intervals at 95% (in parentheses). An omnibus test ( $Q_m$ ) evaluates whether parameters are equal among groups (*i.e.*,  $H_0 = \beta_1 = ... = \beta_p = 0$ ). \*, P < 0.05; \*\*\*, P < 0.001; n. s., not

significant. Confidence intervals at 95% in bold-type font do not overlap with zero value. (DOC)

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Blanca Hernández, Martha Macías Rubalcava, Claudio Meléndez and María Teresa Caudillo for their help with HPLC quantification, and the members of the Laboratorio de Genética Ecológica y Evolución for their logistical support and field assistance. Thanks are also extended to the Laboratorio de Alelopatía of the Instituto de Ecología at UNAM for providing the facilities for laboratory work. This paper constitutes a partial fulfillment of the Graduate Program in Biological Sciences (Posgrado de Ciencias Biológicas) of the National Autonomous University of Mexico (UNAM). GC acknowledges CIMS, TPOL, Lynna M. Kiere and Michele Healey for their very helpful comments on the manuscript and the National Council of Science and Technology (CONACyT) for a scholarship and financial support.

#### **Author Contributions**

Conceived and designed the experiments: GC JNF. Performed the experiments: GC LLC EOV RTL GAG. Analyzed the data: GC DC EOV GAG RTL AAL. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: GC LLC JNF JF AAL. Wrote the paper: GC DC PLV JNF.

#### References

- 1. Dodds PN, Rathjen JP (2010) Plant immunity: towards an integrated view of plant-pathogen interactions. Nat Rev Genet 11: 539-548.
- 2. Ehrlich PR, Raven PH (1964) Butterflies and Plants: A study in coevolution. Evolution 18: 586-608.
- Thompson J (1994) The Coevolutionary Process. Chicago: University of 3. Chicago Press. 376 p. Thompson JN (2001) Coevolution. In: Encyclopedia of life sciences. London:
- 4. Nature Publishing Group. pp. 1-5.
- 5. Anderson JT, Mitchell-Olds T (2011) Ecological genetics and genomics of plant defences: evidence and approaches. Funct Ecol 25: 312-324.
- 6. Rausher MD (2001) Co-evolution and plant resistance to natural enemies. Nature 411: 857-864.
- Schaller A (2008) Induced plant resistance to herbivory. Berlin: Springer-Verlag. 435 p.
- 8. Mauricio R, Rausher MD (1997) Experimental manipulation of putative selective agents provides evidence for the role of natural enemies in the evolution of plant defense. Evolution 51: 1435-1444.
- Simms EL, Rausher MD (1987) Costs and benefits of plant resistance to 9. herbivory. Am Nat 130: 570-581.
- 10. Wise M, Sacchi C (1996) Impact of two specialist insect herbivores on reproduction of horse nettle, Solanum carolinense. Oecologia 108: 328-337.
- 11. Ali J, Agrawal AA (2012) Specialist versus generalist insect herbivores and plant defense. Trends Plant Sci 17: 293-595.
- 12. Lankau RA (2007) Specialist and generalist herbivores exert opposing selection on a chemical defense. New Phytol 175: 176-184.
- 13. Thompson J (2005) The Geographic Mosaic of Coevolution. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press. 400 p. 14. Agrawal AA, Heil M (2012) Synthesizing specificity: multiple approaches to
- understanding the attack and defense of plants. Trends Plant Sci 17: 239–242. 15. Kliebenstein D, Pedersen D, Barker B, Mitchell-Olds T (2002) Comparative
- analysis of Quantitative Trait Loci controlling Glucosinolates, Myrosinase and Insect Resistance in Arabidopsis thaliana. Genetics 161: 325-332
- Shonle I, Bergelson J (2000) Evolutionary Ecology of the tropane alkaloids of 16. Datura Stramonium L. (Solanaceae). Evolution 54: 778-788.
- 17. Bidart-Bouzat MG, Kliebenstein DJ (2008) Differential levels of insect herbivory in the field associated with genotypic variation in glucosinolates in Arabidopsis thaliana. J Chem Ecol 34: 1026-1037.
- Nieminen M, Suomi J, Van Nouhuys S, Sauri P, Riekkola M-L (2003) Effect of 18. Iridoid Glycoside Content on Oviposition Host Plant Choice and Parasitism in a Specialist Herbivore. J Chem Ecol 29: 823–844.
- Charlesworth B (1998) Measures of divergence between populations and the effect of forces that reduce variability. Mol Biol Evol 15: 538-543
- 20. Arany A, de Jong T, Kim H, van Dam N, Choi Y, et al. (2008) Glucosinolates and other metabolites in the leaves of Arabidopsis thaliana from natural populations and their effects on a generalist and a specialist herbivore. Chemoecology 18: 65-71.
- 21. Falconer DS, Mackay T (1996) Introduction to Quantitative Genetics. Harlow: Longmans Green. 386 p.
- 22. Parchman TL, Benkman CW (2002) Diversifying coevolution between crossbills and black spruce on Newfoundland. Evolution 56: 1663-1672
- 23. Laine A (2009) Role of coevolution in generating biological diversity: spatially divergent selection trajectories. J Exp Bot 60: 2957-2970.
- 24. Muola A, Mutikainen P, Lilley M, Laukkanen L, Salminen J-P, et al. (2010) Associations of plant fitness, leaf chemistry, and damage suggest selection mosaic in plant-herbivore interactions. Ecology 91: 2650-2659.
- Cuevas-Arias CT, Vargas O, Rodriguez A (2008) Solanaceae diversity in the state of Jalisco, Mexico. Rev Mex Biodivers 79: 67–79. 25.
- Valverde PL, Fornoni J, Núñez-Farfán J (2001) Defensive role of leaf trichomes 26. in resistance to herbivorous insects in Datura stramonium. J Evol Biol 14: 424-
- 27. Weaver SE, Warwick SI (1984) The biology of Canadian weeds: 64. Datura stramonium L. Can J Plant Sci 64: 979-991.
- Núñez-Farfan J, Dirzo R (1994) Evolutionary ecology of Datura stramonium L. 28. in central Mexico: Natural selection for resistance to herbivorous insects. Evolution 48: 423-436

- 29. Glass EH (1940) Host plants of the Tobacco Flea Beetle. J Econ Entomol 33: 467-470
- 30. Kariñho-Betancourt E (2009) Disyuntiva evolutiva entre la resistencia y la tolerancia. M.Sc. Thesis, National Autonomous University of Mexico UNAM.
- Krug E, Proksch P (1993) Influence of dietary alkaloids on survival and growth of Spodoptera littoralis. Biochem Syst Ecol 21: 749-756.
- Castillo G, Cruz LL, Hernández-Cumplido J, Oyama K, Flores-Ortiz CM, et al. 32. (2013) Geographic association and temporal variation of defensive traits and leaf damage in Datura stramonium. Ecol Res 28: 663-672.
- 33. Futuyma DJ, Moreno G (1988) The evolution of ecological specialization. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 19: 207-233.
- 34. Gould F (1988) Genetics of pairwise and multispecies plant-herbivore coevolution. In: Spencer KC editor. Chemical mediation of coevolution. San Diego: Academic Press. pp. 13-55.
- 35. Zangerl AR, Berenbaum MR (2005) Increase in toxicity of an invasive weed after reassociation with its coevolved herbivore. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 15529-15532.
- 36. Wink M, Schmeller T, Latz-Brüning B (1998) Modes of action of allelochemical alkaloids: interaction with neuroreceptors, DNA, and other molecular targets. I Chem Ecol 24: 1881–1937.
- 37. van Kleunen M, Markus F, Steven D J (2007) Reproductive assurance through self-fertilization does not vary with population size in the alien invasive plant Datura stramonium. Oikos 116: 1400-1412.
- Weaver S, Dirks V, Warwick S (1985) Variation and climatic adaptation in northern populations of Datura stramonium. Can J Bot 63: 1303-1308.
- 39 Motten AF, Antonovics J (1992) Determinants of outcrossing rate in a predominantly self-sertilizing weed, Datura stramonium (Solanaceae). Am J Bot 79: 419-427
- 40. Fornoni J, Valverde PL, Núñez-Farfán J (2003) Quantitative genetics of plant tolerance and resistance against natural enemies of two natural populations of Datura stramonium. Evol Ecol Res 5: 1049-1065.
- 41. Bello-Bedoy R, Núñez-Farfán J (2011) The effect of inbreeding on defence against multiple enemies in Datura stramonium. J Evol Biol 24: 518-530.
- 42. Lande R, Arnold SJ (1983) The measurement of selection on correlated characters. Evolution 37: 1210-1226.
- 43. R Development Core Team (2011) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. 2.15.2 edn. R Foundation for Statistical Software. Viena, Austria.
- 44. Schluter D, Smith JNM (1986) Natural selection on beak and body size in the song sparrow. Evolution 40: 221-231.
- 45. Koricheva J, Gurevitch J, Mengersen K (2013) Handbook of meta-analysis in ecology and evolution. Princeton: Princeton University Press. 498 p.
- Becker BJ, Wu M-J (2007) The synthesis of regression slopes in meta-analysis. 46. Stat Sci 22: 414-429.
- 47. Zar JH (1984) Biostatistical Analysis. New Jersey: Prentice-hall. 718 p.
- 48. Viechtbauer W (2010) Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. I Stat Softw 36: 1-48.
- Thompson JN (2009) The Coevolving Web of Life (American Society of 49 Naturalists Presidential Address). Amer Nat 173: 125-140.
- 50. Lush JL (1943) Animal breeding plans. Iowa: Iowa State College Press. 437 p. 51. Jakabová S, Vincze L, Farkas Á, Kilár F, Boros B, et al. (2012) Determination of
- tropane alkaloids atropine and scopolamine by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry in plant organs of Datura species. J Chromatogr A 1232: 295-301. 52. Whittaker RH, Feeny PP (1971) Allelochemics: chemical interactions between
- species. Science 171: 757-770. 53. Cornell HV, Hawkins BA (2003) Herbivore responses to plant secondary compounds: a test of phytochemical coevolution theory. Amer Nat 161: 507-522
- 54. Forister ML, Dyer LA, Singer MS, Stireman JO III, Lill JT (2011) Revisiting the evolution of ecological specialization, with emphasis on insect-plant interactions. Ecology 93: 981-991.
- 55. Fry JD (1996) The evolution of host specialization: are trade-offs overrated? Am Nat: S148 84-S107.
- 56. Futuyma DJ, Agrawal AA (2009) Macroevolution and the biological diversity of plants and herbivores. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106: 18054-18061.

# Capítulo III

Adaptación local a herbívoros múltiples en Datura stramonium

- 1 Local adaptation to multiple herbivores in *Datura stramonium*
- 2 Guillermo Castillo<sup>1</sup>
- 3 Laura L. Cruz<sup>1</sup>
- 4 Adán Miranda-Pérez<sup>1</sup>
- 5 Juan Núñez-Farfán<sup>1\*</sup>
- 6 <sup>1</sup>Laboratorio de Genética Ecológica y Evolución, Departamento de Ecología Evolutiva,
- 7 Instituto de Ecología, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México. Circuito Exterior, Ciudad
- 8 Universitaria, 14510, Distrito Federal, México.
- 9 \*Corresponding author
- 10 E-mail: farfan@servidor.unam.mx
- 11 Phone number: 56229009

12

- 13
- 14
- .т
- 15
- 16
- 17

18
19 Abstract

20 Local adaptation is a central process for creating and maintaining variation of traits 21 mediating antagonistic interactions. Despite this, few studies have evaluated the local 22 adaptation of plants to their biological counterparts such as herbivores. Most studies 23 evaluating local adaptation to herbivores have focused on specialist systems, where local 24 adaptation is likely to occur. However, there is less evidence regarding the existence of 25 local adaptation on generalist systems, where local adaptation is not expected. Since leaf 26 damage has in general a negative impact on plant fitness it is expected that local 27 adaptation is mediated by the herbivores feeding preferences and thus by the defensive 28 traits exhibited by plants. We conducted a reciprocal transplant experiment that aimed to 29 detect the existence of local adaptation of the annual herb Datura stramonium to specialist 30 and generalist herbivores. We also explored if leaf trichome density (a defensive trait of D. 31 stramonium) was mediating local adaptation to herbivores. Results showed that D. 32 stramonium populations can be locally adapted to both generalist and specialist herbivores, 33 but also that this is not a generalized feature of all populations. Although trichome density 34 showed a significant effect on individual fruit production, we did not find a consistent 35 pattern indicating that this trait was mediating the observed local adaptation patterns.

36

37

38

39

40 Introduction

41 Most species consist of a group of populations genetically and phenotypically differentiated 42 (Rice & Jain, 1985; Thompson, 2005). Such differentiation may arise through neutral 43 processes such as gene flow, genetic drift or founder effects (Gomulkiewicz et al., 2007). 44 However, it may also be originated by spatially variable selection exerted by biotic and/or 45 abiotic factors (Lande & Arnold, 1983; Holsinger & Weir, 2009). Uncovering the relative role 46 of these forces in generating and maintaining phenotypic variation remains as a current 47 challenge for evolutionary ecology (Mazer & Damuth, 2001; Leinonen et al., 2006; 48 Leinonen et al., 2013). 49 Local adaptation studies have highlighted the role of selection in generating divergence 50 through adaptations to the local conditions (Vesakoski & Jormalainen, 2013). According 51 Kawecki and Ebert (2004) local adaptation is a pattern such that individuals from a 52 population have higher relative fitness in their original habitat compared with individuals

53 originated in other habitat (local vs. foreign criterion). Local adaptation can be also 54 detected when individuals of a population show higher fitness in their own habitat than in 55 other habitats (home vs. away criterion). Though, it has been suggested that the "home vs. 56 away" criterion alone does not provide enough evidence of local adaptation, because it 57 may be reflecting the differences in habitat quality, rather than the effects of divergent 58 selection (Kawecki & Ebert, 2004; DeFaveri & Merilä, 2014). Recently, Blanquart et al. 59 (2013) introduced a third criterion, namely the sympatric vs. allopatric criterion. These 60 authors propose that local adaptation should be considered a property of a metapopulation 61 (rather than a property of a single population) and should be defined as the differences in

fitness between populations in their home sites (simpatry) and fitness of populations whentransplanted to other sites (allopatry).

64 Several studies have explored the local adaptation of plants to local abiotic conditions (see 65 Leimu & Fischer, 2008). However, few studies have evaluated plant's local adaptation to 66 their biological counterparts (Ortegón Campos et al., 2009; Garrido et al., 2012; Laukkanen 67 et al., 2012). In the case of the plant-herbivore interaction (and from the standing point of 68 the plants), local adaptation is exhibited when plants originated from a population show 69 higher fitness when are exposed to sympatric herbivores in comparison to when are 70 exposed to allopatric herbivores (Kawecki & Ebert, 2004; Laukkanen et al., 2012). Most of 71 the evidence supporting this hypothesis comes from specialist systems, where interacting 72 species are engaged in a strong coevolutionary arm-race, and local adaptation is likely to 73 occur (Gandon & Michalakis, 2002). In contrast, less evidence arises from generalist 74 systems, where multi-specific selection is thought to predominate and where local 75 adaptation is not predicted (Gómez et al., 2009; Ortegón-Campos et al., 2009). Since leaf 76 damage by herbivores has generally a negative impact on plant fitness (Crawley, 1989), it 77 is expected that local adaptation to herbivores be mediated by herbivores feeding 78 preferences and the defensive traits exhibited by plants (Laukkanen et al., 2012).

The annual herb *Datura stramonium* is a good system for testing local adaptation to
generalist and specialist herbivores. In Mexico, most of the *D. stramonium* populations are
attacked mainly by the specialist folivore *Lema daturaphila* (Chrysomelidae) (Nuñez-Farfan
& Dirzo, 1994; Valverde *et al.*, 2001). However, there are populations where *L. daturaphila*is absent and where the oligophagous *Epitrix parvula* (Chrysomelidae) and the generalist *Sphenarium purpurascens* (Orthoptera) are the main plant consumers (Castillo *et al.*,

85	2014). Previous studies have documented that <i>D. stramonium</i> features leaf trichomes as
86	defensive traits against herbivory (Valverde et al., 2001), and can evolve by selection
87	exerted by herbivores (Kariñho-Betancourt, 2009). Recently, (Garrido et al., 2012) found
88	local adaptation of D. stramonium to its specialist herbivore Lema daturaphila
89	(Parachnowitsch & Lajeunesse, 2012); however it is still unknown if D. stramonium can be
90	locally adapted to generalist herbivores and if defensive traits, such as trichome density,
91	are mediating the local adaptation of <i>D. stramonium</i> to specialist and generalist herbivores.
92	In this context, we conducted a reciprocal transplant experiment that aimed to (i) detect
93	local adaptation of D. stramonium to specialist and generalist herbivores and (ii) to
94	evaluate to what extent local adaptation is mediated by leaf trichome density. We
95	hypothesized that there will be local adaptation exclusively in specialist populations and
96	leaf trichome density should be mediating the local adaptation of <i>D. stramonium</i> to both
97	generalist and specialist herbivores.
98	Methods
99	Study system - Datura stramonium L. (Solanaceae) is an annual herb commonly
100	distributed in cultivated areas and disturbed environments in Mexico, the United States,
101	Canada, and Europe (Weaver & Warwick, 1984; Shonle & Bergelson, 2000; Valverde et
102	al., 2001). The species reproduces mainly by self-fertilization, and has limited pollen and
103	seed dispersal (Motten & Antonovics, 1992). Previous studies have shown that D.
104	stramonium has a moderate genetic structure in Central Mexico, $R_{ST} = 0.265$ (Andraca-
105	Gómez, 2009).

106 Most populations of *D. stramonium* in Mexico are consumed by the specialist folivorous 107 beetle Lema daturaphila (Nuñez-Farfan & Dirzo, 1994). However, there are populations 108 where L. daturaphila is absent, and where the oligophagous flea beetle Epitrix parvula 109 (which consumes other members of the Solanaceae family), or the generalist grasshopper 110 Sphenarium purpurascens are the main consumers of the plant (Castillo et al., 2014). Leaf 111 damage exerted by each of these herbivores is characteristic and recognizable (a more 112 detailed description of leaf damage type by each herbivore can be found elsewhere, 113 Nuñez-Farfan & Dirzo, 1994; Carmona & Fornoni, 2013; Castillo et al., 2014).

114

115 Reciprocal garden experiment – During September-November 2011 we conducted a 116 reciprocal garden experiment with plants originated from four different natural populations 117 of *D. stramonium*. For this experiment, we used plants originated from four *D. stramonium* 118 populations in central Mexico (Fig. 1). Populations were selected based on the main 119 herbivore present at each locality. Teotihuacán and Joguicingo populations are consumed 120 primarily by the specialist herbivore L. daturaphila, whereas Morelia and Santo Domingo 121 are populations consumed mainly by the generalist Sphenarium purpurascens. Field 122 observations and leaf damage records carried out for 3 years performed by our laboratory 123 indicate that the main herbivores at each population remained stable throughout the 2010-124 2012 period. Distance between populations ranged from 70 to 290 km. Geographic 125 coordinates and habitat characteristics of each population are shown in Table S1. 126 Plants were obtained germinating seeds from 30 fruits collected randomly at each 127 population of origin. Seeds where germinated individually in plastic pots using a

128 commercial soil mix in a glasshouse at the Instituto de Ecología of the Universidad

Nacional Autónoma de México. This allowed us to generate four groups of 30 plants by
each of the four sites of origin. When plants showed their first true leaves were
transplanted to four experimental plots at each site of origin in a full-randomized block
arrange. In order to separate the biotic and abiotic effect on plant fitness in the experiment,
we included an herbivore exclusion treatment. For this, we applied the commercial
systemic insecticide Furadan ® (1g/50ml). Thus, the experimental design was 4 *sites of origin* × 4 *experimental sites* × 2 herbivory levels.

*Leaf damage* - The proportion of leaf damage per plant was calculated as the ratio of removed leaf tissue area in ±20 leaves divided by the total area of those same 20 leaves. Following Valverde *et al.* (2001), total leaf area was calculated as a function of leaf length using a sample of undamaged leaves. Leaf shape varied among populations, so we used a different equation for each population ( $R^2$  ranged from 0.934 to 0.958, p < 0.001, n ± 30). Remaining leaf area was measured using Image Pro-Plus image analysis software [version 7.0, 46].

*Trichome density and plant fitness* - We estimated leaf trichome density as the total
number of trichomes in an observation field of 2.5 mm<sup>2</sup> located in the central basal region
of the adaxial side of the leaf, following Valverde et al. (2001). We obtained the trichome
density per plant averaging trichome number of a random sample of 20 fully expanded
leaves. We used fruit number as a proxy of individual maternal fitness. Because *D. stramonium* is a annual selfing plant, fruit number is a reliable proxy of lifetime fitness
(Mauricio & Rausher, 1997).

150 Statistical analyses

Herbivore exclusion – To evaluate if the herbivore exclusion treatment was efficient, we used a multifactorial ANOVA that used the terms *insecticide*, *experimental site* as well as the *insecticide* × *experimental site* interaction as predictor variables, and *leaf damage proportion* as response variable. Leaf damage proportion was log-transformed prior to analyses. Similarly, we evaluated the effect of the insecticide treatment on fruit production using a quasi-poisson GLM with a log link function. Predictor variables used in this latter model were the same as described above but using fruit production as response variable.

158 Local adaptation – We tested for local adaptation of D. stramonium to generalist and 159 specialist herbivores using a negative binomial GLM that used a logit link function. This 160 analysis was performed on subset of the data that excluded plants under the herbivore 161 exclusion treatment. The model included the terms origin, experimental site and trichome 162 density as a covariate as predictor factors, and *fruit number* as the response variable. 163 Whenever a significant interaction origin × experimental site was detected (first requisite for 164 detecting local adaptation), we carried out directed contrasts for testing the (i) "local vs. 165 foreign", (ii) "home vs. away" and (iii) "sympatric vs. allopatric" criterions of local adaptation, 166 as described in Blanquart et al. (2013).

*Leaf trichome density contribution to local adaptation* – To evaluate if trichome density
account for the local adaptation of *D. stramonium* to generalist and specialist herbivores,
we tested the correlation between leaf trichome density and fruit number using simple
Spearman's *p* for each population at ach experimental site. All analyses were performed in
R statistical software version 3.0.2 (R Development Core Team, 2011).

172

173 Results

174 Herbivore exclusion – We found a significant effect of the insecticide treatment on leaf 175 damage proportion ( $F_{1,65,53}$  = 292.42, P < 0.0001). Overall efficiency of the insecticide 176 treatment was 58.82% (in terms of leaf damage reduction). We also found a significant 177 effect of the term experimental site ( $F_{3,48.02} = 71.42$ , P < 0.0001). Mean leaf damage 178 reduction at each experimental site was: Joquicingo 61.11%, Teotihuacán 55.11%, Santo 179 Domingo 48.81% and Morelia 46.81%. A significant effect of the experimental site × insecticide interaction was also detected ( $F_{3,2.9} = 4.37$ , P = 0.0046) (see Fig. S2). In the 180 181 other hand, herbivore removal treatment increased in 7.5% the overall fruit production 182 (GLM, Wald  $X^2$  = 4.39, P = 0.036). Significant differences in fruit production among experimental sites were also detected (GLM, Wald  $X^2 = 4.39$ , P < 0.0001). Finally, a 183 significant experimental site  $\times$  insecticide interaction was detected (GLM, Wald  $X^2$  = 44.95, 184 185 *P* < 0.0001) (see Fig. S3).

186 Local adaptation – We found a significant effect of the term experimental site on fruit 187 production (Table 1). Mean fruit production was 3.78 in Joquicingo, 7.8 in Teotihuacán, 2.1 188 in Santo Domingo and 9.38 in Morelia. A significant effect of trichome density was also 189 detected (Table 1). Moreover, the experimental site × trichome density and origin × 190 trichome density interactions resulted significant (Table 1). Finally, we detected a 191 significant effect of the interaction experimental site  $\times$  origin (Table 1). Direct contrasts that 192 aimed to detect local adaptation according the local vs. foreign criterion (i. e., higher mean 193 fitness of a focal population at home, in comparison of the average mean fitness of all the 194 other populations when transplanted into the focal population) evidenced the existence of

195 local adaptation for plants originated in Morelia population (Fig. 2). Accordingly, the home 196 vs. away criterion (higher mean fitness of the population at home compared to the average 197 mean fitness of the same population when transplanted in all other habitats) also showed 198 evidence for local adaptation of the Morelia population (Fig. 2). Finally, the sympatric vs. 199 allopatric criterion (higher mean fitness in sympatric combinations of populations and sites 200 compared to average fitness in allopatric combinations) showed evidence of local 201 adaptation in Teotihuacán and Morelia populations (Fig. 3). 202 Leaf trichome density contribution to local adaptation – We found significant correlations

between trichome density and fruit production in the Santo Domingo (r = -0.55, P = 0.0024) and Morelia (r = -0.6, P = 0.0002) populations in the Joquicingo experiment. We also found significant correlations in the Santo Domingo population in the Santo Domingo experimental site (r = -0.41, P = 0.0336) and in the Santo Domingo population in the

Teotihuacan experimental site (r = -0.52, P = 0.0002).

208 Discussion

207

209 Local adaptation is a fundamental process for creating and maintaining trait variation of 210 antagonistic interactions (Laukkanen et al., 2012). However, few studies have evaluated 211 local adaptation of plants to their biological counterparts (Leimu & Fischer, 2008). Most of 212 the empirical evidence of local adaptation to herbivores come from specialist systems, 213 where local adaptation is likely to occur (Gómez et al., 2009; Ortegón Campos et al., 214 2009). Yet, there is scarce evidence regarding the existence of local adaptation on 215 generalist systems, were local adaptation is in principle not expected (Gómez et al., 2009). 216 Here we evaluated local adaptation of *D. stramonium* to its generalist and specialist

217 herbivores. To sum up, our results indicate that D. stramonium can be locally adapted to 218 both generalist and specialist herbivores, but also indicate that it is not a generalized 219 pattern across populations. Since local adaptation to herbivores is likely to be mediated by 220 the feeding capacities of the herbivores, we also explored if leaf trichome density (a 221 defensive trait of *D. stramonium*) was mediating local adaptation to herbivores. In this line, 222 we found that trichome density have indeed a significant effect on individual fruit 223 production, however we did not find a consistent pattern indicating that this trait is related 224 to the observed local adaptation patterns.

225 In order to know if our local adaptation estimates were reflecting actual adaptations to 226 herbivores and not merely to abiotic conditions, we included an herbivore exclusion 227 treatment in our reciprocal garden experiment. Although the application of insecticide did 228 not prevent herbivores from feeding on *D. stramonium* completely, we found a significant 229 reduction on leaf damage of plants under this treatment. Moreover, variation in the 230 efficiency of the insecticide across experimental sites and populations was similar. 231 Likewise, we found a significant effect of the herbivore reduction treatment on plant fruit 232 production. In general, fruit production under the herbivore reduction treatment was higher 233 compared to plants fully exposed to herbivores, probably as a result reduced herbivory. 234 Despite the observed variation of herbivore exclusion across experimental sites and 235 populations, we consider that our results represent good estimates of local adaptation to 236 herbivores.

Results indicate the existence of local adaptation of *D. stramonium* for the Morelia
population to the generalist herbivore *Sphenarium purpurascens*. This population fulfilled
the requirements for the three local adaptation criterions contemplated in our study.

240 Although this is not expected in theory (Gómez et al., 2009), recent studies of D. 241 stramonium have detected selection by generalist herbivores on defensive traits (Castillo et 242 al., 2014). We suggest that if there is moderate or low genetic flow between plant and 243 herbivore populations, local adaptive processes between D. stramonium and S. 244 purpurascens could arise. We also found evidence of local adaptation in the Teotihuacán 245 population to the specialist herbivore *L. daturaphila* based in the sympatric vs. allopatric 246 contrast. This result is in line with previous studies that have found mutual local adaptation 247 of D. stramonium to L. daturaphila (Garrido et al., 2012; Parachnowitsch & Lajeunesse, 248 2012). Interestingly, local adaptation patterns for generalist and specialist herbivores don't 249 appear to be a generalized feature of *D. stramonium* populations, and resembles a 250 geographic mosaic of local adaptations as predicted by GMTC (Thompson, 2001; 251 Thompson, 2005), reflecting a system where local adaptation to herbivores is fluctuating as 252 the result of structured coevolutionary dynamics at each population. 253 We also explored to what extent trichome density accounts for local adaptation of D. 254 stramonium. Our results showed that trichome density alone does not account for local 255 adaptation of the populations. Despite that other empirical evidence have found strong 256 selective pressures by herbivores acting on leaf trichome density (Valverde et al., 2001; 257 Kariñho-Betancourt, 2009) and that we detected a significant effect of trichome density on

258 plant fitness, we did not find a consistent pattern indicating that leaf trichome density is

259 mediating with local adaptation. A recent study detected correlational selection acting on

trichome density and tropane alkaloids in central Mexico *D. stramonium populations* 

261 (Castillo et al., 2014), suggesting that defense syndromes are locally mediating the plant

herbivore interaction as has been proposed in the literature (Agrawal & Fishbein, 2006;

Leimu & Koricheva, 2006). Thus, exploring leaf trichome density together with other
defensive traits such as tropane alkaloids is fundamental to evaluate the role of plant
defense to local adaptation processes.

266 Unveiling the forces that maintain and generate phenotypic variation is a current challenge

for evolutionary biologists (Mazer & Damuth, 2001; Leinonen *et al.*, 2006; Leinonen *et al.*,

268 2013). Here we have provided evidence of a plant species that can be locally adapted to

269 both specialist and generalist herbivores. Our results also support the notion that adaptive

270 processes involved in the plant-herbivore interaction occur in a structured fashion across

populations. It is also worth to mention that, in this study we were not able to deal with

272 other sources of variation such as, transgenerational induction and epigenetic inheritance

273 of plant defensive traits. Several studies have found that herbivore and pathogen attack of

274 plants can generate particular defense phenotypes across generations (Holeski et al.,

275 2012; Kim & Felton, 2013). Generating this kind of evidence was beyond the scope of this

276 research, but including explicitly these factors in the context of the local adaptation could

277 help us to explain those patterns that do not fit into the traditional theory predictions.

#### 278 References

279 280 Agrawal, A.A. & Fishbein, M. 2006. Plant defense syndromes. *Ecology* 87: S132-281 S149. 282 283 Andraca-Gómez, G. 2009. Genética de poblaciones comparada entre Datura stramonium y su herbívoro especialista Lema trilineata. Unpublished Master Thesis: 284 Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México. 285 286 287 Blanguart, F., Kaltz, O., Nuismer, S.L. & Gandon, S. 2013. A practical guide to 288 measuring local adaptation. *Ecology letters* **16**: 1195-1205.

289	
290	Carmona, D. & Fornoni, J. 2013. Herbivores can select for mixed defensive
291	strategies in plants. New Phytologist <b>197</b> : 576-585.
292	
293	Castillo G Cruz I I Tania-Lónez R Olmedo-Vicente E Carmona D Anava-
200	Lang A L. Fornoni, J. Andraca-Gómez, G. Valverde, P.L. & Núñez-Farfán, J.
205	2014. Selection mosaic everted by specialist and generalist herbivores on chemical
295	and physical defense of Datura stramonium Plas One <b>0</b> : o102478
290	and physical defense of Datura stramonium. Fios One 9. e102476.
297	Crawley, M. J. 1090. Insect borbivarias and plant population dynamics. Applied raview
290	of ontomology <b>24</b> : 521 562
299	01 entonology <b>34</b> . 551-562.
300	DeFeveri I. 9 Marilia I. 2014 Local adaptation to calinity in the three enined
301	DeFaveri, J. & Merlia, J. 2014. Local adaptation to salinity in the three-spined
302	stickleback? Journal of evolutionary biology 27: 290-302.
303	
304	Gandon, S. & Michalakis, Y. 2002. Local adaptation, evolutionary potential and
305	host-parasite coevolution: interactions between migration, mutation, population size
306	and generation time. <i>Journal of Evolutionary Biology</i> <b>15</b> : 451-462.
307	
308	Garrido, E., Andraca-Gómez, G. & Fornoni, J. 2012. Local adaptation:
309	simultaneously considering herbivores and their host plants. New Phytologist <b>193</b> :
310	445-453.
311	
312	Gómez, J.M., Abdelaziz, M., Camacho, J., Muñoz-Pajares, A. & Perfectti, F. 2009.
313	Local adaptation and maladaptation to pollinators in a generalist geographic mosaic.
314	Ecology letters <b>12</b> : 672-682.
315	
316	Gomulkiewicz, R., Drown, D.M., Dybdahl, M.F., Godsoe, W., Nuismer, S.L., Pepin,
317	K.M., Ridenhour, B.J., Smith, C.I. & Yoder, J.B. 2007. Dos and don'ts of testing the
318	geographic mosaic theory of coevolution. Heredity 98: 249-258.
319	55
320	Holeski, L.M., Jander, G. & Agrawal, A.A. 2012, Transgenerational defense
321	induction and epigenetic inheritance in plants. Trends in ecology & evolution 27:
322	618-626.
323	
324	Holsinger, K.E. & Weir, B.S. 2009. Genetics in geographically structured
325	populations: defining, estimating and interpreting FST. <i>Nature Reviews Genetics</i> <b>10</b> :
326	639-650.
327	
328	Kariñho-Betancourt, E. 2009. Disvuntiva evolutiva entre la resistencia y la
329	tolerancia: National Autonomous University of Mexico UNAM.
330	
331	Kawecki, T.J. & Ebert, D. 2004, Conceptual issues in local adaptation. <i>Ecology</i>
332	letters <b>7</b> : 1225-1241.

333	
334	Kim, J. & Felton, G.W. 2013. Priming of antiherbivore defensive responses in plants.
335	Insect Science <b>20</b> : 273-285.
336	
337	Lande, R. & Arnold, S.J. 1983. The measurement of selection on correlated
338	characters. <i>Evolution</i> <b>37</b> : 1210-1226.
339	
340	Laukkanen I. Leimu R. Muola A. Lillev M. Salminen JP. & Mutikainen P.
341	2012. Plant Chemistry and local adaptation of a specialized followere. <i>PloS one</i> <b>7</b> :
342	e38225.
343	
344	Leimu R & Fischer M 2008 A meta-analysis of local adaptation in plants PLoS
345	One $3$ e4010
346	
347	Leimu R & Koricheva J 2006 A meta analysis of genetic correlations between
2/12	plant resistances to multiple enomines. The American Naturalist <b>168</b> : E15 E27
340 240	
349	Lainanan T. Cana, I. Mäkinan, H. & Marilä, J. 2006. Contracting patterns of body
251	change and neutral genetic divergence in marine and lake nonulations of threespine
252	shape and neutral genetic divergence in manne and lake populations of timeespine
352	SILKIEDAUKS. J. EVUI. DIUI. 19. 1003-1012.
303	Leinenen T. McCeirne R.S. O'Here R.R. & Merilä, J. 2012, OST EST
304 255	Leinonen, T., McCalins, R.S., O Hala, R.D. & Menia, J. 2013. QST-FST
300	Compansons. evolutionary and ecological insights from genomic neterogeneity. <i>Nat.</i>
300	Rev. Genet. 14. 179-190.
307	Mourieia D. & Doughar M.D. 1007 Experimental manipulation of putative calentive
300 250	agente provideo evidence for the role of netural enemies in the evolution of plant
309	defense. Evolution <b>Ed</b> : 1425-1444
300	derense. Evolution <b>31</b> . 1435-1444.
262	Mazar S. & Domuth, J. 2001. Nature and equade of variation
302	Mazer, S. & Damuth, J. 2001. Nature and causes of variation.
264	Motton A E 8 Antonovice, 1 1002 Determinants of outeroccing rate in a
304 265	prodeminantly colf cortilizing wood. Deture stramonium (Solonocooo). Am. I. Pot
305	
300	<b>79</b> . 419-427.
269	Nuñaz Earfan I. 8 Dirza P. 1004 Evolutionary goology of Datura atromonium L. in
300	Nullez-Fallall, J. & Dilzo, R. 1994. Evolutionally ecology of Datura Stramonium L. In
309	422 426
370	423-430.
272	Ortagón Compos I. Barra Tabla V. Abdala Babarta I. 8 Harrara, C.M. 2000
372	Least adaptation of Duallia nudiflara (Apartheases) to histic counterparts, several ad
3/3	Local adaptation of Ruellia nuclifora (Acanthaceae) to blotic counterparts: complex
3/4 275	scenarios revealed when two herbivore guilds are considered. <i>Journal of</i>
3/3	evolutionary plotogy 22: 2288-2291.
3/0 277	Development of Alexandrope MI 2040 Adapting with the energy level
3// 270	Parachnowitsch, A.L. & Lajeunesse, IVI.J. 2012. Adapting with the enemy! local
318	adaptation in plant–nerbivore interactions. <i>New Phytologist</i> 193: 294-296.

R Development Core Team. 2011. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. 2.15.2 edn. R Foundation for Statistical Software, ed^. Viena, Austria.
Rice, K. & Jain, S. 1985. The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. In <i>Plant population genetics and evolution in disturbed environments</i> (S. Pickett & W. PS,eds), pp. 265-286. New York: Academic Press.
Shonle, I. & Bergelson, J. 2000. Evolutionary ecology of the tropane alkaloids of <i>Datura Stramonium</i> L. (Solanaceae). <i>Evolution</i> <b>54</b> : 778-788.
Thompson, J. 2005. <i>The Geographic Mosaic of Coevolution</i> . Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
Thompson, J.N. 2001. Coevolution. In eLS): John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
Valverde, P.L., Fornoni, J. & Núñez-Farfán, J. 2001. Defensive role of leaf trichomes in resistance to herbivorous insects in <i>Datura stramonium</i> . <i>J. Evol. Biol.</i> <b>14</b> : 424-432.
Vesakoski, O. & Jormalainen, V. 2013. Ignored pattern in studies of local adaptations: When the grass is greener on the allopatric site. <i>Ideas in Ecology and Evolution</i> <b>6</b> .
Weaver, S.E. & Warwick, S.I. 1984. The biology of Canadian weeds: 64. Datura stramonium L. Can. J. Plant Sci. 64: 979-991.

- 413 Table 1. Results of the GLM model on the effects of population of origin, experimental sites
- 414 (i.e., "Site") and leaf trichome density on fruit production of *D. stramonium.* Significant
- 415 values appear in bold-type fonts.

	Variable	d.f.	F	Р
	Site	3	62.0781	< 0.001
	Origin	3	1.4951	0.2135942
	Trichome density	1	14.892	< 0.001
	Site × Origin	9	7.3266	< 0.001
	Site × Trichome density	3	3.8664	0.0088906
	Origin × Trichomes	3	3.0473	0.0274643
	Site × Origin × Trichome density	9	1.3427	0.2086155
416				
117				
417				
418				
419				
420				
421				
400				
422				
423				
424				
727				
425				
426				
40-				
427				

428 Figure 1.



430 Figure 2.



433

434 Figure 3.



435

436

437 Figure legends

- 438 Figure 1. Geographic location of source populations and experimental sites used in the
- 439 reciprocal garden experiment. Letters between parentheses indicate the main herbivore at
- 440 each locality. SP = Sphenarium purpurascens, LD = Lema daturaphila.
- Figure 2. Mean fruit production of four populations of *D. stramonium* in a reciprocal garden
- 442 experiment. The asterisk indicates significant differences (*P* < 0.05) of contrasts comparing

fruit production according to the "local vs. foreign" (dashed line) and "home vs. away"
(continuing lines) criteria for testing local adaptation. Error bars represent ±1SE.

Figure 3. Mean fruit production in allopatric and sympatric combinations of experimental sites and populations of origin. The asterisk indicates significant differences (P < 0.05) of contrasts comparing fruit production according the "sympatric *vs.* allopatric" criterion for testing local adaptation. Error bars represent ±1SE.





- 451 with four populations of *D. stramonium* and two herbivore reduction levels, a) no insecticide
- 452 applied, b) insecticide applied. Error bars represent ±1SE.







- 456 Figure S3. Fruit production in the reciprocal garden experiment with four populations of *D*.
- 457 stramonium and two herbivore reduction levels, a) no insecticide applied, b) insecticide
- 458 applied. Error bars represent ±1SE.

# Capítulo IV.

Diferenciación adaptativa de atributos defensivos en Datura stramonium

- 1 Adaptive differentiation in defensive traits of Datura stramonium
- 2 Guillermo Castillo<sup>1</sup>
- 3 Laura L. Cruz<sup>1</sup>
- 4 Hernández-Cumplido Jonhattan<sup>2</sup>
- 5 Erika Olmedo-Vicente<sup>1</sup>
- 6 Guadalupe Andraca-Gómez<sup>1</sup>
- 7 Juan Fornoni<sup>1</sup>
- 8 Cesar Mateo Flores-Ortiz<sup>3</sup>
- 9 Edson Sandoval-Castellanos<sup>1</sup>
- 10 Juan Núñez-Farfán<sup>1\*</sup>
- 11
- 12 \*Corresponding author
- 13 farfan@servidor.unam.mx
- 14 Phone number: 56229009
- 15
- 16 Affiliations
- <sup>1</sup>Laboratorio de Genética Ecológica y Evolución, Departamento de Ecología Evolutiva,
- 18 Instituto de Ecología, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México. Circuito Exterior, Ciudad
- 19 Universitaria, 14510, Distrito Federal, México.
- 20 <sup>2</sup>Institute of Biology, University of Neuchâtel (UNINE), Emile Argand 11, 2009 Neuchâtel,
- 21 Switzerland.
- <sup>3</sup>Facultad de Estudios Superiores Iztacala, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México,
- 23 Apartado Postal 314, 54090, Estado de México, México.

#### 24 Introduction

25 Most species consist of a series of populations that are often phenotypically differentiated 26 (Rice & Jain, 1985: Thompson, 2005), Such phenotypic differentiation in multiple traits can 27 be effectively produced by processes like genetic drift, mutation, founder effects or 28 population isolation (Gomulkiewicz et al., 2007). However, phenotypic differentiation in 29 traits that contribute to individuals' fitness may also have a spatial structure caused by 30 varying selective regimes exerted by biotic and/or abiotic factors (Holsinger & Weir, 2009). 31 Elucidating to what extent these factors promote character differentiation among 32 populations is crucial, if we are to fully understand the prevalence of among-population 33 variation in the wild (Lynch, 1990; Althoff & Thompson, 1999; Criscione et al., 2006; Kelly, 34 2006; Gomulkiewicz et al., 2007).

35

36 Defensive traits exhibited by plants (*i.e.*, traits that prevent/reduce damage by natural enemies) vary widely across populations (Núñez-Farfán et al., 2007; Züst et al., 37 2012). Selection exerted by herbivores is a major force driving the evolution of plants 38 39 defensive traits (Rausher, 2001; Anderson & Mitchell-Olds, 2011). Thus, among-population 40 differentiation in defensive traits is likely to be produced by spatial variation in the local 41 selective regimes exerted by herbivores. Such spatially variable selection can be 42 generated by among-population variation in the abundance, species composition, feeding 43 styles, and degree of specialization of herbivores to their host plants (Falconer & Mackay, 1996; Charlesworth et al., 1997; Parchman & Benkman, 2002; Arany et al., 2008; Hare, 44 2012). However, the among-population variation in defensive traits may also result from 45

other causes rather than selection exerted by herbivores (Gomulkiewicz *et al.*, 2007).
Adaptive responses to spatial variation in habitat quality or neutral processes as genetic
drift or limited gene flow can also promote spatial variation in traits mediating plantherbivore interactions (Nuismer *et al.*, 1999; Gandon & Nuismer, 2009). Thus, it is relevant
to determine if selection by herbivores or neutral processes can account for the observed
among-population differentiation of defensive traits in plants.

52 Datura stramonium L. (Solanaceae) provides an optimal system for studying among-53 population differentiation in defensive traits. Because of its wide distribution (Mexico, 54 Canada, United States, and Europe), D. stramonium is exposed to different environmental 55 conditions and to a wide diversity of herbivore species (Weaver & Warwick, 1984; Valverde 56 et al., 2001; Cuevas-Arias et al., 2008). Recent studies have found ample geographic 57 variation in leaf trichome density and atropine and scopolamine concentration in central 58 Mexico (Castillo et al., 2013; Castillo et al., 2014). However, it is unclear if selection by 59 herbivores or neutral processes can account for the observed among-population 60 differentiation in these defensive traits.

Here, we assessed to what extent gene flow and natural selection account for population differentiation observed in defensive leaf traits (trichome density, atropine and scopolamine concentrations) in 13 populations of *D. stramonium* in central Mexico. To do so, we compared the degree of phenotypic differentiation of defensive traits by means of  $P_{ST}$  index (analogue of  $Q_{ST}$  but influenced by environmental effect) (Spitze, 1993) against the neutral expectation set by allelic divergence at microsatellite loci ( $F_{ST}$ ).

67

#### 68 Methods

69 Study system

70 Datura stramonium is an annual herb commonly found in roadsides, cultivated areas and 71 disturbed environments in Mexico, the United States, Canada, and Europe (Weaver et al., 72 1985; Valverde et al., 2001; van Kleunen et al., 2007). In Mexico, leaves of D. stramonium 73 are consumed by a specialist herbivore, the chrysomelid Lema trilineata (Nuñez-Farfan & 74 Dirzo, 1994), the oligophagous *Epitrix parvula* (Chrysomelidae), which also feed from other 75 members of the Solanaceae family (Glass, 1940), and by the generalist grasshopper 76 Sphenarium purpurascens (Nuñez-Farfan & Dirzo, 1994). D. stramonium features leaf 77 trichomes and tropane alkaloids (atropine and scopolamine) as defensive traits against 78 herbivory. These traits have shown heritable basis (Shonle & Bergelson, 2000; Valverde et 79 al., 2001; Kariñho-Betancourt & Núñez-Farfán, 2015), and are under selection by specialist 80 and generalist herbivores (Castillo et al., 2014). Furthermore, among-population 81 differentiation in leaf trichome density and atropine and scopolamine concentration was 82 recently found in a common garden experiment (Castillo et. al., in prep.).

83

#### 84 Fieldwork

During August-September 2007 we sampled 13 natural populations of *D. stramonium* in central Mexico (Fig. 1). Selected populations inhabit a wide range of habitat types. The geographic location and climatic characteristics are shown in Table 1. From each population we sampled 30 randomly chosen individual plants.

#### 89 Defensive traits quantification

Following Valverde et al., (2001) we estimated leaf trichome density as the total number of 90 trichomes in an observation field of 2.5 mm<sup>2</sup> located in the central basal region of the 91 92 adaxial side of the leaf, using a stereoscopic microscope. Then we averaged the trichome 93 density per plant from a random sample of 20 fully expanded leaves. We also quantified 94 the concentration of atropine and scopolamine (two major alkaloids in *D. stramonium*) from 95 a sample of 20 leaves per plant by means High Precision Liquid Chromatography (HPLC). 96 Details of the extraction method and HPLC conditions can be found elsewhere (see 97 Castillo et al., 2013).

98

#### 99 Data analysis

100 We estimated the neutral genetic differentiation among populations of *D. stramonium* using

101  $F_{ST}$  values obtained from five nuclear microsatellite markers designed specifically for D.

102 stramonium as reported by Andraca-Gómez (2009). F<sub>ST</sub> values were calculated using

103 FSTAT 2.9.3.1 (Goudet, 2001) employing approximately 30 individuals per population.

104

105 *Phenotypic divergence in defensive traits* – We used the degree of among-population 106 phenotypic divergence ( $P_{ST}$ ) to explore to what extent natural selection and gene flow 107 account for phenotypic differentiation of defensive traits.  $P_{ST}$  is an analogous index to  $Q_{ST}$ , 108 but is affected by environmental and non-additive genetic effects (Merilä & Crnokrak, 109 2001). However, the use of  $P_{ST}$  instead of  $Q_{ST}$  is justified when estimates of the latter are 110 not available (see Leinonen *et al.*, 2006; Lehtonen *et al.*, 2009). Thus:

111 
$$P_{ST} = \frac{\sigma_{GB}^2}{\sigma_{GB}^2 + 2(h^2 \cdot \sigma_{GW}^2)}$$

where  $\sigma_{GB}^2$  is the variance among populations  $\sigma_{GW}^2$  is the variance within population and  $h^2$ 112 113 is the trait heritability. Because environmental conditions influence  $P_{ST}$  values, we 114 calculated P<sub>ST</sub> for two contrasting scenarios. The first scenario assumed that 115 environmental and non-additive genetic effects account for half of the observed variation  $(h^2 = 0.5)$ , while the second scenario assumed that all of the observed phenotypic variance 116 is due to genetic and additive variation ( $h^2 = 1$ ). To estimate  $P_{ST}$  values we fitted a linear 117 118 model for each defensive trait, under the assumption that the distribution of defensive traits 119 was normally distributed. The *population* term was considered as a random effect. To test 120 the hypothesis that  $P_{ST}$  is higher than  $F_{ST}$ , a Monte Carlo test was carried out, approaching 121 a sample of 10,000 deviates from both  $P_{ST}$  and  $F_{ST}$  by means of their estimated error.  $P_{ST}$ 122 error was estimated from the likelihood errors of its components (variances among- and 123 within-populations), while  $F_{ST}$  error was obtained by bootstrapping (Goudet, 2001). The 124 10,000 random deviates of  $F_{ST}$  and  $P_{ST}$  were compared and the *p*-value was obtained as 125 the proportion of comparisons in which the  $F_{ST}$  was equal or higher than the  $P_{ST}$  (null 126 hypothesis).

127 We further evaluated the correlation between the  $F_{ST}$  and  $P_{ST}$  pair-wise 128 differentiation matrices of each trait using Mantel tests (Mantel, 1967). Neutral marker 129 variation can be used as a neutral expectation against which the phenotypic divergence of

130 traits can be compared (Gomulkiewicz *et al.*, 2007). If defensive phenotypic differentiation 131 between populations ( $P_{ST}$ ) is the result of neutral processes rather than selection, 132 differentiation among populations in these traits should correlate with differentiation in 133 selectively neutral markers ( $F_{ST}$ ) (Gomulkiewicz *et al.*, 2007; Leinonen *et al.*, 2013). All 134 data analyses were performed using R statistical software (R Development Core Team, 135 2011).

136

#### 137 Results

138 Among-population variation in defensive traits and leaf damage - A multivariate analysis of 139 variance (MANOVA) detected significant multivariate differences in the studied defensive 140 traits of 13 populations of *D. stramonium* (Wilks'  $\lambda = 0.091$ ,  $F_{36, 331.64} = 11.51$ , P < 0.0001). 141 After the subsequent univariate ANOVAs were applied, we found significant differences in 142 trichome density ( $F_{12,126} = 5.10$ , P < 0.0001), atropine ( $F_{12,126} = 7.85$ , P < 0.0001) and 143 scopolamine concentration ( $F_{12, 126} = 23.33$ , P < 0.0001). Mean leaf trichome density and 144 mean atropine and scopolamine concentration per population are shown in Figure S1. Post 145 hoc comparisons between populations for defensive traits are provided in Table S2. 146 Phenotypic divergence in defensive traits – - Comparison of phenotypic ( $P_{ST}$ ) and neutral 147 genetic marker divergence ( $F_{ST}$ ) showed that  $P_{ST}$  for atropine concentration was significantly higher than the  $F_{ST}$  only in the scenario where  $h^2 = 0.5$  (Table 2a, Figure 2). 148 Moreover,  $P_{ST}$  for scopolamine concentration was significantly higher than the  $F_{ST}$  in the 149 both heritability scenarios ( $h^2 = 0.5$  and  $h^2 = 1$ ), (Table 2b, Figure 2). In contrast,  $P_{ST}$  of leaf 150

151 trichome density did not differ significantly from the  $F_{ST}$  in neither scenario (Table 2c, 152 Figure 2).

Finally, we found no significant correlation between  $F_{ST}$  and  $P_{ST}$  pair-wise differentiation matrices of any of the studied variables (see Table 3).

155

### 156 Discussion

Overall, our results showed that the overall phenotypic differentiation ( $P_{ST}$ ) of tropane alkaloids, scopolamine and atropine, was higher than differentiation in neutral marker genes ( $F_{ST}$ ). In addition, we did not find a correlation between pair-wise neutral genetic distances and phenotypic distances of any of the three defensive traits. This suggests a leading role of selection over neutral processes in driving the divergence of chemical defense of *D. stramonium*.

163 Previous studies have recorded ample geographic variation in trichome density and 164 tropane alkaloids in populations of *D. stramonium* in Central México (Castillo et al., 2013). 165 Accordingly, we detected significant geographic variation in the studied defensive traits 166 (see Table 1). Moreover, we found that phenotypic differentiation values of both atropine 167 and scopolamine concentration exceeded  $F_{ST}$ , pointing that contrasting natural selection 168 exerted by herbivores play a relevant role in the among-population differentiation of 169 chemical defense of *D. stramonium*. The lack of correlation between pair-wise neutral 170 genetic distances and phenotypic distances from the studied defensive traits also suggests

that neutral processes alone do not account for among-population variation of plantdefense.

173 Selection by herbivores is considered a major force that maintains the diversity of 174 defensive traits within and among species (Rausher, 2001; Anderson & Mitchell-Olds, 175 2011). However, few studies have explored whether natural enemies constitute a 176 predominant force promoting geographic variation on plant defense. Recently, studies by 177 Fine et al., (2013) and Misiewicz & Fine (2014) shown evidence of natural selection (trough 178 change in herbivores composition in different soils types) promoting phenotypic divergence 179 of leaf thickness, leaf pubescence and chemical investment among populations of the 180 Amazonian tree Protium subserratum. Similarly, Züst et al. (2012) elegantly inferred that 181 the abundance and selection by two specialist herbivores have promoted the geographic 182 variation of chemical defense of Arabidopsis thaliana. Here, we found evidence of adaptive 183 differentiation on atropine and scopolamine concentration in Mexican populations of D. 184 stramonium. In support of this, Castillo et al. (2014) recently found evidence of spatially 185 variable selection by specialists and generalists herbivores, reducing atropine and favoring 186 scopolamine concentration. This pattern of selection is likely to account for the observed 187 among-population differentiation of chemical defense of *D. stramonium*.

Although  $P_{ST}$  is a suitable option for estimating phenotypic divergence when  $Q_{ST}$ estimates are unavailable, it can be biased due to environmental and non-additive genetic effects (Merilä & Crnokrak, 2001; Leinonen *et al.*, 2006). However by testing two plausible scenarios of heritability ( $h^2 = 0.5$  and  $h^2 = 1$ ), we found higher differentiation in putative adaptive traits (tropane alkaloids) than expected by random differentiation. Although these estimates are likely to be influenced by environmental and non-additive genetic effects,

previous studies have found genetic variation and among population differences for
resistance to herbivory (Fornoni *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, a common garden experiment
(that included four of the populations used here) showed traces of genetic amongpopulation differentiation for scopolamine and atropine concentration (G. Guillermo
Castillo, unpublished. data). This indicates that our estimates of population differentiation in
defensive traits in *D. stramonium* are realistic.

200

## 201 Conclusion

Uncovering the mechanisms behind patterns of phenotypic differentiation of natural populations remains as a major challenge for evolutionary ecology (Mazer & Damuth, 2001; Leinonen *et al.*, 2006; Leinonen *et al.*, 2013). Here, we showed evidence congruent with adaptive divergence in chemical defensive traits of *D. stramonium*. Further studies must assess explicitly the role of selection by multi-specific herbivores communities and local adaptation to herbivores in generating and maintaining the ample among-population divergence of defensive traits observed in natural populations.

209

#### 210 Acknowledgements

We thank Blanca Hernández, Martha Macías Rubalcava, María Teresa Caudillo, Luis
Barbo and Martha Urzúa Meza for helping us during HPLC quantification, and to the
members of Laboratorio de Genética Ecológica y Evolución for their logistical support and
field assistance. Thanks are also extended to the Laboratorio de Alelopatía of Instituto de

215 Ecología, UNAM for providing the facilities for laboratory work. This paper constitutes a

- 216 partial fulfillment of the Graduate Program in Biological Sciences of the National
- 217 Autonomous University of Mexico (UNAM). GC acknowledges the National Council of
- 218 Science and Technology (CONACyT) for a scholarship and financial support. This study
- 219 was funded by the CONACyT grant. "Evolución adaptativa de la defensa en *Datura*:
- 220 Resistencia y Tolerancia a los herbívoros".
- 221

223

# 222 References

Althoff, D.M. & Thompson, J.N. 1999. Comparative geographic structures of two
Parasitoid-Host interactions. *Evolution* 53: 818-825.

## 226

Anderson, J.T. & Mitchell-Olds, T. 2011. Ecological genetics and genomics of plant
 defences: evidence and approaches. *Funct. Ecol.* 25: 312-324.

## 229

- Andraca-Gómez, G. 2009. Genética de poblaciones comparada entre *Datura* stramonium y su herbívoro especialista *Lema trilineata*: Unpublished Master Thesis,
- 232 Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México.

# 233

Arany, A., de Jong, T., Kim, H., van Dam, N., Choi, Y., Verpoorte, R. & van der
Meijden, E. 2008. Glucosinolates and other metabolites in the leaves of *Arabidopsis thaliana* from natural populations and their effects on a generalist and a specialist
herbivore. *Chemoecology* 18: 65-71.

238	
239	Castillo, G., Cruz, L.L., Hernández-Cumplido, J., Oyama, K., Flores-Ortiz, C.M.,
240	Fornoni, J., Valverde, P.L. & Núñez-Farfán, J. 2013. Geographic association and
241	temporal variation of defensive traits and leaf damage in Datura stramonium. Ecol.
242	<i>Res.</i> <b>28</b> : 663-672.
243	
244	Castillo, G., Cruz, L.L., Tapia-López, R., Olmedo-Vicente, E., Carmona, D., Anaya-
245	Lang, A.L., Fornoni, J., Andraca-Gómez, G., Valverde, P.L. & Núñez-Farfán, J.
246	2014. Selection mosaic exerted by specialist and generalist herbivores on chemical
247	and physical defense of Datura stramonium. PloS One 9: e102478.
248	
249	Charlesworth, B., Nordborg, M. & Charlesworth, D. 1997. The effects of local
250	selection, balanced polymorphism and background selection on equilibrium patterns
251	of genetic diversity in subdivided populations. Genet. Res. 70: 155-174.
252	
253	Criscione, C.D., Blouin, M.S. & Sunnucks, P. 2006. Minimal selfing, few clones, and
254	no amog-host genetic structure in a hermaphroditic parasite with asexual
255	propagation. <i>Evolution</i> <b>60</b> : 553-562.
256	
257	Cuevas-Arias, C.T., Vargas, O. & Rodriguez, A. 2008. Solanaceae diversity in the
258	state of Jalisco, Mexico. Rev. Mex. Biodivers. 79: 67-79.
259	
260	Falconer, D.S. & Mackay, T. 1996. Introduction to Quantitative Genetics. Harlow:
261	Longmans Green.

262	
263	Fine, P.V.A., Metz, M.R., Lokvam, J., Mesones, I., Zuñiga, J.M.A., Lamarre, G.P.A.,
264	Pilco, M.V. & Baraloto, C. 2013. Insect herbivores, chemical innovation, and the
265	evolution of habitat specialization in Amazonian trees. Ecology 94: 1764-1775.
266	
267	Fornoni, J., Valverde, P.L. & Núñez-Farfán, J. 2003. Quantitative genetics of plant
268	tolerance and resistance against natural enemies of two natural populations of
269	Datura stramonium. Evol. Ecol. Res. 5: 1049-1065.
270	
271	Gandon, S. & Nuismer, Scott L. 2009. Interactions between genetic drift, gene flow,
272	and selection mosaics drive parasite local adaptation. Amer. Nat. 173: 212-224.
273	
274	Glass, E.H. 1940. Host plants of the tobacco flea beetle. J. Econ. Entomol. 33: 467-
275	470.
276	
277	Gomulkiewicz, R., Drown, D.M., Dybdahl, M.F., Godsoe, W., Nuismer, S.L., Pepin,
278	K.M., Ridenhour, B.J., Smith, C.I. & Yoder, J.B. 2007. Dos and don'ts of testing the
279	geographic mosaic theory of coevolution. Heredity 98: 249-258.
280	
281	Goudet, J. 2001. FSTAT, a program to estimate and test gene diversities and
282	fixation indices (version 2.9. 3), ed^.
283	
284	Hare, J.D. 2012. How Insect herbivores drive the evolution of plants. Science 338:
285	50-51.

286	
287	Holsinger, K.E. & Weir, B.S. 2009. Genetics in geographically structured
288	populations: defining, estimating and interpreting FST. Nat. Rev. Genet. 10: 639-
289	650.
290	
291	Kariñho-Betancourt, E. & Núñez-Farfán, J. 2015. Evolution of resistance and
292	tolerance to herbivores: testing the trade-off hypothesis. PeerJ e789.
293	
294	Kelly, John K. 2006. Geographical variation in selection, from phenotypes to
295	molecules. Amer. Nat. 167: 481-495.
296	
297	Lehtonen, P.K., Laaksonen, T., Artemyev, A.V., Belskii, E., Both, C., Bureš, S.,
298	Bushuev, A.V., Krams, I., Moreno, J. & Mägi, M. 2009. Geographic patterns of
299	genetic differentiation and plumage colour variation are different in the pied
300	flycatcher (Ficedula hypoleuca). Mol. Ecol. 18: 4463-4476.
301	
302	Leinonen, T., Cano, J., Mäkinen, H. & Merilä, J. 2006. Contrasting patterns of body
303	shape and neutral genetic divergence in marine and lake populations of threespine
304	sticklebacks. <i>J. Evol. Biol.</i> <b>19</b> : 1803-1812.
305	
306	Leinonen, T., McCairns, R.S., O'Hara, R.B. & Merilä, J. 2013. QST-FST
307	comparisons: evolutionary and ecological insights from genomic heterogeneity. Nat.
308	<i>Rev. Genet.</i> 14: 179-190.

309	
310	Lynch, M. 1990. The rate of morphological evolution in mammals from the
311	standpoint of the neutral expectation. Amer. Nat. 136: 727-741.
312	
313	Mantel, N. 1967. The detection of disease clustering and a generalized regression
314	approach. <i>Cancer Res.</i> 27: 209-220.
315	
316	Mazer, S. & Damuth, J. 2001. Nature and causes of variation. In Evolutionary
317	Ecology: Concepts and case studies (C. Fox, D. Roff & D.F. O,eds), pp. 3–15.
318	Oxford: Oxford University Press.
319	
320	Merilä, J. & Crnokrak, P. 2001. Comparison of genetic differentiation at marker loci
321	and quantitative traits. J. Evol. Biol. 14: 892-903.
322	
323	Misiewicz, T.M. & Fine, P.V.A. 2014. Evidence for ecological divergence across a
324	mosaic of soil types in an Amazonian tropical tree: Protium subserratum
325	(Burseraceae). <i>Mol. Ecol.</i> <b>23</b> : 2543-2558.
326	
327	Nuismer, S.L., Thompson, J.N. & Gomulkiewicz, R. 1999. Gene flow and
328	geographically structured coevolution. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 266: 605-
329	609.
330	
331	Nuñez-Farfan, J. & Dirzo, R. 1994. Evolutionary ecology of Datura stramonium L. in
332	central Mexico: Natural selection for resistance to herbivorous insects. Evolution 48:
-----	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
333	423-436.
334	
335	Núñez-Farfán, J., Fornoni, J. & Valverde, P.L. 2007. The evolution of resistance and
336	tolerance to herbivores. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. S. 38: 541-566.
337	
338	Parchman, T.L. & Benkman, C.W. 2002. Diversifying coevolution between crossbills
339	and black spruce on Newfoundland. Evolution 56: 1663-1672.
340	
341	R Development Core Team. 2011. R: a language and environment for statistical
342	computing. 2.15.2 edn. R Foundation for Statistical Software, ed^. Viena, Austria.
343	
344	Rausher, M.D. 2001. Co-evolution and plant resistance to natural enemies. Nature
345	<b>411</b> : 857-864.
346	
347	Rice, K. & Jain, S. 1985. The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. In
348	Plant population genetics and evolution in disturbed environments (S. Pickett & W.
349	PS,eds), pp. 265-286. New York: Academic Press.
350	
351	Shonle, I. & Bergelson, J. 2000. Evolutionary ecology of the tropane alkaloids of
352	Datura Stramonium L. (Solanaceae). Evolution 54: 778-788.

353	
354	Spitze, K. 1993. Population structure in Daphnia obtusa: quantitative genetic and
355	allozymic variation. <i>Genetics</i> <b>135</b> : 367-374.
356	
357	Thompson, J. 2005. The Geographic Mosaic of Coevolution. Chicago: The
358	University of Chicago Press.
359	
360	Valverde, P.L., Fornoni, J. & Núñez-Farfán, J. 2001. Defensive role of leaf trichomes
361	in resistance to herbivorous insects in Datura stramonium. J. Evol. Biol. 14: 424-
362	432.
363	
364	van Kleunen, M., Markus, F. & Steven D, J. 2007. Reproductive assurance through
365	self-fertilization does not vary with population size in the alien invasive plant Datura
366	<i>stramonium</i> . <i>Oikos</i> <b>116</b> : 1400-1412.
367	
368	Weaver, S., Dirks, V. & Warwick, S. 1985. Variation and climatic adaptation in
369	northern populations of Datura stramonium. Can. J. Bot. 63: 1303-1308.
370	
371	Weaver, S.E. & Warwick, S.I. 1984. The biology of Canadian weeds: 64. Datura
372	stramonium L. Can. J. Plant Sci. <b>64</b> : 979-991.
373	
374	Züst, T., Heichinger, C., Grossniklaus, U., Harrington, R., Kliebenstein, D.J. &
375	Turnbull, L.A. 2012. Natural enemies drive geographic variation in plant defenses.
376	Science <b>338</b> : 116-119.
377	

Table 1. Vegetation type, latitude, longitude, altitude and population means of leaf trichome density, and atropine and

scopolamine concentrations of 13 populations of Datura stramonium in Central and Southern Mexico. DS = desert shrub,

380 POF = Pine-Oak Forest, TDF = tropical deciduous forest.

	Vegetation		opaitudo	A Hitudo (m)	Trishoma donaity /7 Eumm <sup>2</sup> )	Attaning (mala)	Scopolamine
	Туре	Latitude	Longitude	Altitude (III)	Thenothe defisity (2.3×11111 )	Atropine (ing/g)	(mg/g)
1 Acatzingo	DS	-97.78	19.32	2160	6	0.296	0.159
2 Atlixco	DS	-98.42	18.98	1840	9.48	0.665	0.611
3 Esperanza	DS	-97.37	18.85	2278	7.29	0.477	0.331
4 Patria Nueva	DS	-98.96	20.38	2040	9.9	0.255	0.39
5 Taxco	TDF	-99.66	18.5	1582	8.32	0.826	0.146
6 Teotihuacán	DS	-98.86	19.68	2294	8.73	0.437	0.354
7 Ticumán	TDF	-99.2	18.86	1210	7.12	0.843	2.06
8 Tlaxiaca	DS	-98.86	20.08	2340	9.37	0.289	0.458
9 Tula	DS	-99.35	20.05	2020	6.3	2.373	2.134
10 Tzin Tzun Tzan	POF	-101.58	19.63	2050	4.28	0.935	1.532
11 Valsequillo	DS	-98.11	18.91	2209	6.1	1.768	0.045
12 Xalmimilulco	POF	-98.38	19.20	1200	4.77	2.045	2.024
13 Zirahuén	POF	-101.91	19.43	2174	4.91	0.619	1.968

- Table 2. Significance values after a Monte Carlo procedure testing the hypothesis that  $P_{ST}$
- values of defensive traits (in two heritability scenarios) are larger than  $F_{ST}$  in 13 populations
- of Datura stramonium.

Trait	<i>h</i> <sub>2</sub> = 1	$h_2 = 0.5$
a) Atropine	0.4074	0.0426
b) Scopolamine	0.0382	0.0109
c) Trichomes density	0.6461	0.0826

- Table 3. Correlation between neutral differentiation matrix ( $F_{ST}$ ) and phenotypic
- differentiation matrix (P<sub>ST</sub>) of defensive traits of Datura stramonium under two scenarios of
- heritability ( $h^2 = 1$  and  $h^2 = 0.5$ ).

	Variable	by	r	Ρ	r	Ρ
			$h^2 = 1$		$h^2 = 0.5$	
	F <sub>ST</sub>	Atropine	-0.0637	0.5795	-0.0655	0.5689
	$F_{ST}$	Scopolamine	0.0278	0.8091	0.0348	0.7623
	F <sub>ST</sub>	Trichomes density	-0.0855	0.4568	-0.1053	0.3589
394						
305						
395						
396						
397						
308						
000						
399						
400						
401						
101						
402						
403						

404 Figure 1.

## 



-00

....





427 Figure legends

428

429 Figure 1. Datura stramonium populations sampled in Central México (see Table 1).

430

- 431 Figure 2. *P*<sub>ST</sub> values of defensive traits of *Datura stramonium* in two scenarios of heritability
- 432  $(h^2 = 0.5 \text{ and } h^2 = 1)$ . Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. \* Represents overall
- 433  $P_{ST}$  values that differ significantly from  $F_{ST}$  after a Monte Carlo test (10,000 deviates from

434 both  $P_{\text{ST}}$  and  $F_{\text{ST}}$ ).

435

436 Figure S1. Among-population variation in *a*) leaf trichome density and *b*) atropine

437 concentration, and scopolamine concentration in 13 populations of *Datura stramonium* in

438 central Mexico. Bars represent average value +1 SE.

439

## Discusión

Desentrañar los mecanismos que generan y mantienen la variación de atributos entre las poblaciones de una especie ha representado desde los tiempos de Darwin y hasta ahora gran reto para los biólogos evolutivos (Darwin, 1859; Mazer & Damuth, 2001; Leinonen *et al.*, 2013). El objetivo de esta tesis fue el estudiar a nivel geográfico la variación de los atributos defensivos que median la interacción planta-herbívoro entre la planta anual *D. stramonium* y sus herbívoros.

Los resultados del capítulo I revelaron una gran variación geográfica en el daño foliar ejercido por herbívoros, así como en atributos defensivos químicos y físicos en D. stramonium. También mostraron una asociación geográfica positiva de la densidad de tricomas y la concentración de atropina con el daño foliar por herbívoros. Este tipo de relación es de esperar en un escenario en dónde mayor inversión en atributos defensivos no reduce los niveles de herbivoría, ya que los herbívoros son capaces de "sobreponerse" a las barreras defensivas que en el pasado pudieron ser eficaces (Janzen, 1980; Berenbaum et al., 1986; Zangerl & Berenbaum, 1993; Lively et al., 2004). Este resultado sugiere que el herbívoros especialista L. daturaphila (presente en la mayoría de las poblaciones mexicanas de D. stramonium) "va ganando la carrera armamentista" con la planta, de manera similar a lo que se ha reportado en otros sistemas antagonistas (see Hanifin et al., 2008). Los resultados también sugieren que los herbívoros especialistas pueden usar la defensa química (atropina y escopolamina) de las plantas para identificar y seleccionar individuos en una población, como ha sido sugerido en la literatura (Agrawal & Heil, 2012). Estudios previos (Agrawal & Heil, 2012) han demostrado que la escopolamina puede actuar como fago-estimulante del herbívoro oligófago E. parvula (Shonle & Bergelson, 2000).

En este contexto y dado que a lo largo de la distribución en México de *D. stramonium*, existen poblaciones en las que *L. daturaphila* está ausente y en las cuales el herbívoro

oligófago E. parvula y el generalista S. purpurascens son los principales herbívoros del toloache, en el capítulo II exploré las presiones selectivas ejercidas por estos herbívoros sobre la atropina, escopolamina y la densidad de tricomas foliares en diferentes poblaciones de D. stramonium que difieren en su herbívoro predominante. También evalué si un alcaloide más derivado (escopolamina) confiere un beneficio adaptativo más grande que su precursor (atropina) y si este efecto difiere entre herbívoros especialistas y generalistas. Los resultados revelaron una amplia variación geográfica en los patrones selectivos sobre los atributos defensivos de D. stramonium. A pesar de dicha variación espacial, fuimos capaces de detectar efectos particulares asociados al tipo de herbívoro sobre la defensa de D. stramonium. En general, todos los herbívoros estudiados seleccionan una reducción en la concentración de la atropina, el alcaloide más "viejo", sugiriendo que este metabolito secundario ya no confiere un "beneficio" como agente disuasivo de la herbivoría y que poseerlo en mayor cantidad conlleva un costo para las plantas. Además la escopolamina, el alcaloide más derivado, resultó más efectiva en contra del herbívoro generalista S. purpurascens lo cual apoya también nuestra expectativas iniciales. A pesar de que estudios previos en poblaciones naturales de D. stramonium (Fornoni et al., 2003) han encontrado selección a favor de niveles altos de tricomas foliares, en este capítulo detecté sólo un efecto marginal de la densidad de tricomas sobre la adecuación en la mayoría de poblaciones estudiadas. En general, el patrón selectivo observado en contra de la producción de atropina es consistente con los resultados del capítulo I

En el tercer capítulo de la tesis evalué la existencia de adaptación local a herbívoros generalistas y especialistas en *D. stramonium* mediante un experimento de trasplantes recíprocos. La adaptación local es un proceso central en la generación y el mantenimiento de atributos que median interacciones antagonistas (Laukkanen *et al.*, 2012). A pesar de esto, pocos estudios han evaluado el papel de la adaptación local de las plantas a sus enemigos naturales como es el caso de sus herbívoros (Ortegón-Campos *et al.*, 2009). Más aún, la mayor parte de la evidencia existente proviene de sistemas especialistas (Berenbaum, 1981; Nitao, 1989; Gandon & Michalakis, 2002), donde se espera que exista

adaptación local y muy pocos trabajos han evaluado la existencia de adaptación local en sistemas generalistas, en los cuales detectar adaptación local parecería menos probable (Gómez et al., 2009; Ortegón-Campos et al., 2009). Además dado que se ha reportado que el daño foliar tiene un efecto negativo en la adecuación de D. stramonium (Nuñez-Farfan & Dirzo, 1994), es de esperar que la adaptación a herbívoros esté mediada por los atributos defensivos exhibidos por las plantas como la densidad de tricomas foliares. Los resultados mostraron que las poblaciones de D. stramonium pueden adaptarse tanto a herbívoros especialistas como a generalistas. Sin embargo, no todas las poblaciones están adaptadas a su herbívoro principal. Este resultado parece reflejar la existencia de un mosaico geográfico de adaptaciones locales, como es predicho por la Teoría del Mosaico geográfico de Coevolución (Thompson & Cunningham, 2002; Thompson, 2005). Por otro lado, a pesar de que la evidencia previa indica que densidad de tricomas foliares es un carácter que está sujeto a fuerte selección por los herbívoros (Valverde et al., 2001; Kariñho-Betancourt, 2009), no encontré evidencia de que la adaptación local observada sea mediada por la densidad de tricomas foliares. Esto sugiere que son síndromes de defensa (i.e., conjunto de caracteres defensivos) los que están mediando la interacción planta herbívoro a nivel local, como es sugerido en la literatura (Agrawal & Fishbein, 2006; Leimu & Koricheva, 2006) y concuerda con resultados del capítulo II que indican la existencia de amplia selección correlativa actuando sobre la defensa de D. stramonium (en poblaciones utilizadas en el experimento de trasplantes recíprocos).

Finalmente, en el capítulo IV evalué si procesos neutros (e. g., deriva génica o flujo génico) y/o las presiones selectivas están promoviendo la diferenciación fenotípica en atributos defensivos en 13 poblaciones mexicanas de *D. stramonium*. Para ello comparé el grado de diferenciación fenotípica ( $P_{ST}$ ) de tres atributos defensivos de *D. stramonium* (tricomas foliares, atropina y escopolamina) con el grado de diferenciación genética neutra ( $F_{ST}$ ) estimado a partir de 5 loci microsatélites. Los resultados indicaron que la diferenciación fenotípica ( $P_{ST}$ ) de la escopolamina y atropina es más grande que la diferenciación en loci microsatélites ( $F_{ST}$ ). Este resultado es congruente con la los patrones selectivos sobre ambos alcaloides encontrados en el capítulo II de esta tesis.

Además no encontré evidencia de una correlación entre el grado de diferenciación fenotípica de atributos defensivos y las distancias genéticas pareadas. Estos resultados son congruentes con un escenario en el que las presiones selectivas ejercidas por herbívoros están promoviendo la diferenciación de atributos defensivos, como es predicho por la teoría (Rausher, 2001; Anderson & Mitchell-Olds, 2011). Recientemente Züst et al. (2012) infirió de manera elegante que la abundancia y presión selectiva ejercida por dos herbívoros especialistas han guiado la variación geográfica de la defensa en poblaciones de *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Sin embargo, pocos trabajos han estudiado el papel de los herbívoros en moldear las diferencias geográficas en atributos defensivos de plantas.

En conjunto, esta tesis constituye un esfuerzo por entender la interacción planta herbívoro en un contexto geográfico. A lo largo de la tesis intenté hacer hincapié en la importancia de considerar diferentes atributos defensivos y a los diferentes tipos de herbívoros en el estudio de la interacción planta-herbívoro. Este trabajo resalta la necesidad de combinar experimentos de campo con evidencia obtenida de poblaciones naturales para responder preguntas acerca de la evolución de la defensa en plantas.

## Referencias

Agrawal, A.A. & Fishbein, M. 2006. Plant defense syndromes. *Ecology* 87: S132-S149.

Agrawal, A.A. & Heil, M. 2012. Synthesizing specificity: multiple approaches to understanding the attack and defense of plants. *Trends in Plant Science* **17**: 239-242.

Anderson, J.T. & Mitchell-Olds, T. 2011. Ecological genetics and genomics of plant defences: evidence and approaches. *Functional Ecology* **25**: 312-324.

Berenbaum, M. 1981. Effects of linear furanocoumarins on an adapted specialist insect (Papilio polyxenes). *Ecological Entomology* **6**: 345-351.

Berenbaum, M.R., Zangerl, A.R. & Nitao, J.K. 1986. Constraints on Chemical Coevolution: Wild Parsnips and the Parsnip Webworm. *Evolution* **40**: 1215-1228.

Darwin, C. 1859. On the origins of species by means of natural selection. *London: Murray*.

Fornoni, J., Valverde, P.L. & Núñez-Farfán, J. 2003. Quantitative genetics of plant tolerance and resistance against natural enemies of two natural populations of *Datura stramonium. Evolutionary Ecology Research*, **5**: 1049-1065.

Gandon, S. & Michalakis, Y. 2002. Local adaptation, evolutionary potential and host–parasite coevolution: interactions between migration, mutation, population size and generation time. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* **15**: 451-462.

Gómez, J.M., Abdelaziz, M., Camacho, J., Muñoz-Pajares, A. & Perfectti, F. 2009. Local adaptation and maladaptation to pollinators in a generalist geographic mosaic. *Ecology letters* **12**: 672-682.

Hanifin, C.T., Brodie, E.D., Jr. & Brodie, E.D., III. 2008. Phenotypic Mismatches Reveal Escape from Arms-Race Coevolution. *PLoS Biology* **6**: e60.

Janzen, D. 1980. When is it coevolution. *Evolution* **34**: 611-612.

Kariñho-Betancourt, E. 2009. Disyuntiva evolutiva entre la resistencia y la tolerancia: National Autonomous University of Mexico UNAM.

Laukkanen, L., Leimu, R., Muola, A., Lilley, M., Salminen, J.-P. & Mutikainen, P. 2012. Plant Chemistry and local adaptation of a specialized folivore. *PloS one* **7**: e38225.

Leimu, R. & Koricheva, J. 2006. A meta-analysis of genetic correlations between plant resistances to multiple enemies. *The American Naturalist* **168**: E15-E37.

Leinonen, T., McCairns, R.S., O'Hara, R.B. & Merilä, J. 2013. QST-FST comparisons: evolutionary and ecological insights from genomic heterogeneity. *Nature Reviews Genetics* **14**: 179-190.

Lively, Curtis M., Dybdahl, Mark F., Jokela, J., Osnas, Erik E. & Delph, Lynda F. 2004. Host Sex and Local Adaptation by Parasites in a Snail-Trematode Interaction. *The American Naturalist* **164**: S6-S18.

Mazer, S. & Damuth, J. 2001. Nature and causes of variation. In *Evolutionary Ecology: Concepts and case studies* (C. Fox, D. Roff & O. Fairbarn, eds), pp. 3–15. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Nitao, J.K. 1989. Enzymatic Adaption in a Specialist Herbivore for Feeding on Furanocoumarin- Containing Plants. *Ecology* **70**: 629-635.

Nuñez-Farfan, J. & Dirzo, R. 1994. Evolutionary ecology of *Datura stramonium* L. in central Mexico: Natural selection for resistance to herbivorous insects. *Evolution* **48**: 423-436.

Ortegón-Campos, I., Parra-Tabla, V., Abdala-Roberts, L. & Herrera, C.M. 2009. Local adaptation of Ruellia nudiflora (Acanthaceae) to biotic counterparts: complex scenarios revealed when two herbivore guilds are considered. *Journal of evolutionary biology* **22**: 2288-2297.

Rausher, M.D. 2001. Co-evolution and plant resistance to natural enemies. *Nature* **411**: 857-864.

Shonle, I. & Bergelson, J. 2000. Evolutionary ecology of the tropane alkaloids of Datura stramonium L.(Solanaceae). *Evolution* **54**: 778-788.

Thompson, J. 2005. *The Geographic Mosaic of Coevolution*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

Thompson, J.N. & Cunningham, B.M. 2002. Geographic structure and dynamics of coevolutionary selection. *Nature* **417**: 735-738.

Valverde, P.L., Fornoni, J. & Núñez-Farfán, J. 2001. Defensive role of leaf trichomes in resistance to herbivorous insects in *Datura stramonium*. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* **14**: 424-432.

Zangerl, A.R. & Berenbaum, M.R. 1993. Plant Chemistry, Insect Adaptations to Plant Chemistry, and Host Plant Utilization Patterns. *Ecology* **74**: 47-54.

Züst, T., Heichinger, C., Grossniklaus, U., Harrington, R., Kliebenstein, D.J. & Turnbull, L.A. 2012. Natural enemies drive geographic variation in plant defenses. *Science* **338**: 116-119.